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Kodal Minerals plc

("Kodal" or the "Company" and together with its subsidiaries, the "Group")
 

Final Results & Notice of Annual General Meeting
 

Kodal  Minerals , the mineral  explora�on, and development company focused on l i thium and gold assets  in West Africa,

announces  i ts  final  results  for the year ended 31 March 2023.

 

The Company's  Annual  Report and Accounts  wi l l  be made avai lable on the Company's

webs i te www.kodalminerals .com shortly. The Company's  annual  general  mee�ng ("AGM") wi l l  be held at 11:00am on 29

September 2023 at Fieldfisher LLP, 9th Floor, Riverbank House, 2 Swan Lane, London EC4R 3TT.

 

Operational Highlights

 

Bougouni Lithium Project, Mali ("Bougouni" or the Project")

·    US$117.75 mi l l ion funding package agreed with Hainan Mining Co. Limited ("Hainan") a  subs idiary of Fosun

International  Limited ("Fosun") and i ts  industria l  platform for mining and resources:

o  US$65 mi l l ion reserved to ful ly fund the cost of the Dense Media Separa�on (D M S) P roject targe�ng

del ivery of fi rst production within 12 months  of receipt of funds.

o  Additional  funds  wi l l  be deployed to:

§ increase the Bougouni  Li thium P roject's  JO RC compl iant resource inventory currently at 21Mt @

1.11% Li2O and extend the mine l i fe; and

§ Support the development of the flota�on plant expansion project which has  the poten�al  to

increase spodumene produc�on from ~125,000 to over 300,000tpa and del iver l i fe of mine (8.5

years) revenue exceeding US $2.15bn.

·    DMS Project development scenario presented:

o  Low capital  development cost estimated at  US$65 mi l l ion;

o  Payback of two months  from commencement of operations;

o  NPV7% of approximately US$420 mi l l ion post tax;

o  Over 130,000tpa production of spodumene concentrate with an ini tia l  4-year mine l i fe;

o  D M S opera�on revenue exceeds US$1.05bn in less  than four years  based on broker consensus  pricing

averaging US$2,080 per tonnes.

·    Bougouni  i s  ful ly permiIed for development and construc�on once funding package is  completed - long stop date

for funding package is  30 September 2023.

 

Gold Portfolio

 

·    P rogress  towards  establ ishing a  maiden resource at Niél lé, in northern Côte d'I voire, based on an iden�fied

anomalous  trend extending over 4.5km and which remains  open along strike.

·    Intercepts  from Niél lé include: 26m @ 1.95 g/t Au from 32m, and 26m @1.79g/t Au from 108m.

·    Further resource defini�on ac�vi�es  at Fatou, in southern Mal i , which has  a  historical  resource es�mate of ~350

koz Au.

·    Recent dri l l  intercepts  from Fatou include 23m @ 1.63 g/t Au from 82m, and 6m @ 1.49 g/t Au from 40m.

 

Financial and Corporate Highlights

·    Group loss  before other comprehensive income for the year of £1,461,000 (2022: £903,000).

·    27% increase in exploration and evaluation expenditure of £3,227,000 (2022: £2,547,000).
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·    27% increase in exploration and evaluation expenditure of £3,227,000 (2022: £2,547,000).

·    37% increase in the value of the gold projects  in Mal i  and Cote d'Ivoire to £3,306,000 (2022: £2,411,000).

·    24% increase in value of the l i thium projects  in Mal i  to £11,216,000 (2022: £9,031,000).

·    Cash balance of £545,000 as  at 31 March 2023 (2022: £1,046,000).

·    Post period end, in August 2023, a  condi�onal  prepayment of US$3,500,000 was received as  part of the funding

package with Hainan.

·    Cash balance of £1,984,000as  at 31 August 2023

 

Commenting on the results, Bernard Aylward, CEO of Kodal Minerals said:

 

"We are now on the final furlong with our pre-construc"on ac"vi"es at Bougouni and are well posi"oned to break ground and

start building our mine once our funding transac"on with Hainan has been finalised in the coming weeks.  We have been

working extremely closely with the teams at Hainan and Fosun over recent months, and we are grateful for their con"nued

support as we look to close out the final condi"ons precedent of our joint agreement.  A ll par"es are eager to start construc"on

work and we are confident that this can now be expected in short order, as we look to deliver first produc"on from our D M S

plant in 2024.

 

"The coming weeks and months are set to be extremely ac"ve for us and I look forward to keeping shareholders updated as we

begin our transition from developer to lithium producer."

 

 

For further information, please vis i t www.kodalminerals .com or contact the fol lowing:

 

Kodal  Minerals  plc

Bernard Aylward, CEO

 

Tel : +61 418 943 345

 

Al lenby Capital  Limited, Nominated Adviser

Jeremy Porter/Vivek Bhardwaj/Nick Harriss

 

 

Tel : 020 3328 5656

SP Angel  Corporate Finance LLP, Financial  Adviser & Joint Broker

John Mackay/Adam Cowl

 

 

Tel : 020 3470 0470

Canaccord Genuity UK LLP, Joint Broker

James Asens io/Gordon Hamilton

 

 

Tel : 020 7523 4680

St Brides  Partners  Ltd, Financial  PR

Sus ie Gel iher/Ana Ribeiro

 

Tel : 020 7236 1177

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

 

I  am pleased to present the Annual  Report of Kodal  Minerals  plc ("Kodal" or the "Company" and together with i ts

subs idiaries , the "Group") for the year ended 31 March 2023.

 

We had two main pi l lars  to our strategy during the year - firstly, to demonstrate that our Bougouni  Li thium P roject

("Bougouni  P roject", "Bougouni" or the "P roject") i s  a  high-qual i ty asset with the requis i te opera�onal  and

commercial  aIributes  to bring to produc�on, and secondly, to agree a financing package to bring that to real isa�on. 

I  am very proud to say that our team has  succeeded on both counts .  The Company had many par�es  interested in

nego�a�ng for par�cipa�on in the future of the Bougouni  Li thium P roject.  We are very pleased to have secured an

excel lent agreement that provides  ful l  funding for the development of a  mining opera�on and addi�onal  support for

the ongoing exploration and development of our highly prospective and extens ive land pos ition in southern Mal i .  The

final  piece of the agreement is  a  direct investment into Kodal  Minerals  P lc that provides  funding for the Company to

undertake s igni ficant growth and assessment of additional  opportunities .

 

S ince the acquis i�on in 2016 of Kodal 's  most advanced asset, the Bougouni  Li thium P roject in southern Mal i , the

Kodal  team has  worked determinedly to prove up a s izeable resource, undertake test work to confirm an aIrac�ve

spodumene product for oSake partners , and pos i�on i tsel f to be one of the first West African l i thium producers  by

securing key permits  early in the development process .  This  commiIed and mul�-stranded work programme has

ensured that Kodal  has  remained at the front of the pack.
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O ur ambi�on of becoming a l i thium producer in the near-term is  now a real i ty thanks  to the US$117.75 mi l l ion

financing agreement between the Company, Kodal  Mining UK  Limited ("K M UK ") and Hainan Mining Co. Limited

("Hainan") and i ts  whol ly owned UK-incorporated subs idiary X inmao I nvestment Co. Limited ("X inmao", and together

the "Hainan Group") announced on 19 January 2023.  Hainan is  a  subs idiary of Fosun I nterna�onal  Limited ("Fosun")

and is  the industria l  plaUorm for mining and resources  within Fosun.  Kodal  has  welcomed the Hainan Group our

partners  for the development of the Bougouni  Li thium P roject and we are con�nuing to work together to ensure

condi�ons precedent can be sa�sfied.  Together the par�es  are ful ly commiIed to the comple�on of the funding

transaction as  soon as  poss ible. 

 

Kodal  and the Hainan Group have spent a  lot of �me working together and final is ing plans  for the development of the

project with ac�vi�es  including addi�onal  metal lurgical  testwork, engineering planning and review and final isa�on

planning for the proposed Dense Media Separa�on ("D M S") development.  This  team development wi l l  s tand the

project in good stead when financing is  complete and the actual  groundwork commences  on s i te.

 

As  shareholders  wi l l  be aware, countries  and major end users  around the world are seeking to divers i fy l i thium

supply chains  given the cri�cal  role the mineral  plays  in the energy trans i�on. Research suggests  that in Europe

alone, 38 new gigafactories  are being developed which could total  ~400-700 GW h of annual  baIery manufacturing

capacity by the middle of this  decade. To meet this  ambitious  target, new sources  of l i thium are absolutely cri tical .

 

Set against this  drama�c demand backdrop, l i thium prices  have surged over the past two years , ri s ing tenfold, then

correc�ng in the first hal f of 2023.  The l i thium spot price has  retracted from the very rapid highs  and some analyst

and repor�ng headl ines  may have certainly concerned investors .  W hi lst a  l i thium price of over $6,000/t of

spodumene concentrate containing up to 6% Li thium Oxide ("Li2O ") would make Bougouni  even more profitable, i t

should be reassuring to shareholders  that the Kodal  team took a conserva�ve approach to i ts  pricing forecasts ,

factoring a  l i fe of mine average concentrate price for the D M S development scenario of US$2,080/t, which s�l l

del ivers  payback within three months.  The s ignificant ups ide to this  should be clearly evident, par�cularly when, at

the date of writing, the 6% Li2O spodumene concentrate price of US$3,600/t FOB is  reported.

 

I t i s  into this  strong market, which analysts  bel ieve wi l l  con�nue to �ghten over the mid- to long-term as  demand

outstrips  new supply, we look to bring the Bougouni  Li thium P roject into produc�on.  We have an ambi�ous schedule

for production, targeting commiss ioning and fi rst production in 2024.

 

The economic fundamentals  of the ini�al  D M S development that define the phase 1 development of the project are

highly compel l ing.  However i t i s  a lso important to recognise the future value upl iV driven firstly by the development

of the larger phase 2 spodumene flota�on plant that s ignificantly expands the spodumene concentrate produc�on,

and secondly by the focused, wel l -funded, explora�on and expansion dri l l ing that i s  supported by the financing

package. 

 

Kodal  i s  ful ly focused on achieving first produc�on through our D M S opera�on at Bougouni .  Kodal  wi l l  be in a  great

pos i�on fol lowing comple�on of the financing package with our partners  the Hainan Group and the Board has

longer-term growth plans  for the Company leveraging our West African knowledge, our technical  exper�se and our

abi l i ty to acquire, explore and develop new exploration projects .

 

I  would l ike to take this  opportunity to thank our shareholders  for their long-term support and interest in the

Company, and also to the Kodal  team for their di l igence, commitment and tenacity in achieving our goals . 

 

Robert Wooldridge

Non-executive Chairman

5 September 2023 

 

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Kodal  has  developed a porUol io of explora�on and development assets  in West Africa, including i ts  most advanced

asset, the Bougouni  Li thium P roject in southern Mal i , and a number of gold explora�on assets  in Mal i  and Côte

d'I voire. Kodal 's  management has  con�nued to ensure that a l l  government compl iance, repor�ng and fees  are kept up

to date and al l  concess ions  are retained in good standing.

 

Mining Licence and Exploration Concession Review

 

Kodal 's  most advanced asset, the Bougouni  Li thium P roject, i s  located in southern Mal i .  Kodal  was  granted the



Foulaboula Permis  d'Exploita�on number No2021-0774/P M-R M ("Mining Licence") in November 2021.  This  covered

the proposed open-pit mining and process ing opera�on at Bougouni , making the P roject ful ly permiIed for

development and construction.

 

The Mining Licence is  val id for an ini�al  12-year term and renewable in ten-year blocks  un�l  a l l  resources  are

depleted.  The Mining Licence is  granted under the 2019 Mining Code and extends over a  97.2 square km area that wi l l

be a  focus  for Kodal 's  explora�on programme to del ineate further resources  to prolong the Bougouni  Li thium P roject

mine l i fe.

 

Bougouni  Li thium Project - Mining Licence detai ls :

 

Tenements Country Kodal  Economic

Ownership

P roject / Joint

Venture

Val idi ty

Foulaboula Mal i 100% ownership

(prior to Mal i

State's

participation) / 10%

free carried + up to

10% contributing

interest

Bougouni  Li thium

Project

Mining Licence N°2021-

0774/PM-RM of November 5

2021.  Permit i s  val id for an

initia l  12 years , renewable

in periods  of 10 years  unti l

depletion of the resources

 

As  detai led above, Kodal  announced the financing package with the Hainan Group on 19 January 2023.  At comple�on

of the financing package, the Hainan Group wi l l  acquire a  51% shareholding in Kodal 's  newly incorporated UK

subsidiary, Kodal  Mining UK  Limited ("K M UK "), the company formed to be the developer of the Bougouni  Li thium mine

through i ts  100% owned Mal ian subs idiary mining company Les  Mines  de Li thium de Bougouni  ("LMLB").

 

O n comple�on of the financing package with the Hainan Group, Kodal  wi l l  have economic interest of 49% of the

Foulaboula mining l icence prior to Mal i  State's  participation.

 

Table of Concess ions  - Kodal  Li thium Concess ions  in Mal i :

 

Tenements Country Kodal  Economic

Ownership

Project / Joint

Venture

Val idi ty

Dogobala Mal i 100% economic

interest

Bougouni  Li thium

Project

Licence val id and in good

standing.  Arrêté number

2018-1115 granted on 13

Apri l  2018 for ini tia l  3-year

period, with option for 2

extens ions  of 2 years  val idi ty

each

Appl ication for fi rst renewal

has  been lodged and al l  fees

paid. 

Renewal  approval  pending

Sogola Nord Mal i 100% economic

interest

Bougouni  Li thium

Project

Licence val id and in good

standing.  Arrêté number

2020-0072 granted 22

January 2020 for an ini tia l  3-

year period, with option for 2

extens ions  of 2 years  val idi ty

each.  Appl ication for fi rst

renewal   has  been lodged,

renewal  approval  i s   pending.

Licence area modified during

2020 to account for the future

Foulaboula Mining Licence. 

Fariédélé Mal i 100% economic

interest

Bougouni  Li thium

Project

Licence val id and in good

standing.  Arrêté number

2020-0073 granted 22



January 2020 for an ini tia l  3-

year period, with option for 2

extens ions  of 2 years  val idi ty

each.  Appl ication for fi rst

renewal   has  been lodged,

renewal  approval  i s   pending.

Licence area modified during

2020 to account for the future

Foulaboula Mining Licence. 

Mafélé Ouest Mal i 1.4% gross  royalty

from future revenue

and right to be

issued an equity

carried interest of

15% in any

exploitation

company set up for

the Concess ion.

Bougouni  West

Li thium

Transaction with Leo Li thium

Completed

N'Kéméné Ouest Mal i 100% Economic

interest

On completion of

Bougouni  West

transaction  retained

interest wi l l  be:

1.4% gross  royalty

from future revenue

and right to be

issued an equity

carried interest of

15% in any

exploitation

company set up for

the Concess ion.

Bougouni  West

Li thium

Final  transaction with Leo

Lithium pending renewal  of

N'Kéméné Ouest concess ion

by Mal i  Government

 

The Bougouni  Li thium P roject concess ions  surround the Foulaboula mining l icence and wi l l  be explored for

addi�onal  pegma�te hosted resources  that can be added to the mining inventory.  The concess ions  are a l l  in good

standing, and explora�on completed to date by Kodal  has  indicated priori ty s i tes  for addi�onal  explora�on within

the concess ions.

 

Kodal  reached an agreement post period end to sel l  i ts  Bougouni  West concess ions, which do not form part of the

main Bougouni  P roject, to ASX  l i s ted Leo Li thium Ltd ("Leo Li thium") for a  total  cash cons idera�on of £2.5 mi l l ion

subject to a l l  agreements  being executed, with Kodal  to receive £2.0 mi l l ion and the original  concess ion holder

Bambara Resources  SARL ("Bambara") to receive £0.5 mi l l ion.

 

Table of Concess ions  - Kodal  Gold Concess ions  in West Africa:

 

Tenements Country Kodal  Economic

Ownership

Project / Joint

Venture

Val idi ty

Boundial i Côte

d'Ivoire

100% direct

ownership

(under

appl ication)

 

Gold Exploration Licence appl ication submitted

and in process .  Appl ication

updated during 2020 and

appl ication remains  in good

standing.

Korhogo Côte

d'Ivoire

100% direct

ownership

Gold Exploration Licence val id and in good

standing.  Renewal  granted on

31 March 2020 for a  3 year-

term.  Appl ication for extens ion

has  been lodged.

Dabakala Côte

d'Ivoire

100% direct

ownership

Gold Exploration Licence val id and in good

standing.  Renewal  granted on



d'Ivoire ownership standing.  Renewal  granted on

31 March 2020 for a  3 year-

term.  Appl ication for extens ion

has  been lodged.

Niél lé Côte

d'Ivoire

100% direct

ownership

Gold Exploration Licence val id and in good

standing.  Ini tia l  l i cence

expired on 7 January 2017, and

Renewal  decree received on the

28 February 2018 for a  3 year-

period.  Second Renewal  decree

received 18 December 2020 for

a 3 year-period.

Tiebissou Côte

d'Ivoire

100% direct

ownership

Gold Exploration Licence val id and in good

standing.  Ini tia l  term expired

30 September 2018.  An

appl ication for renewal  has

been lodged, fees  paid and

approved.  Renewal  decree is

pending s ignature.

M'Bahiakro Côte

d'Ivoire

100% direct

ownership

(under

appl ication)

Gold Exploration Licence appl ication submitted

and in process . 

Appl ication updated during

2020 and appl ication remains

in good standing.

Djel ibani  Sud Mal i 100% direct

ownership

Gold Exploration Licence val id and in good

standing.  Arrêté number 2021-

5133/MMEE-SG granted on 28

December 2021 for an ini tia l  3

year-period, with option for 2

extens ions  of 3 years  val idi ty

each. Al l  taxes  have been paid.

Nangalasso Mal i 100% direct

ownership

fol lowing

completion of

option payments

Nangalasso

Project

Gold Exploration

Nangalasso arrêté completed

second renewal  on 4 February

2021.  A new Convention

appl ication covering the same

permit has  been lodged with

the DNGM and is  awaiting

approval .

Sotian Mal i Completed option

agreement and is

100% beneficia l

owner of

concess ion.

Nangalasso

Project

Gold Exploration

Arrêté number 2018-1925

granted on 12 June 2018 for

ini tia l  3 years  period, with

option for 2 extens ions  of 3

years  val idi ty each

First renewal  has  been

approved

Tiedougoubougou Mal i Kodal  completed

option agreement

and is  100%

beneficia l  owner

of concess ion

Nangalasso

Project

Gold Exploration

Arrêté number 2018-3319

granted on 4 September 2018

for ini tia l  3 years  period, with

option for 2 extens ions  of 3

years  val idi ty each.

 Appl ication for fi rst renewal

has  been lodged and al l  fees

paid.  Renewal  approval

pending

Fininko Mal i Held through

option agreement

giving right to

acquire 100%

ownership

Fatou Project

Gold Exploration

Licence in good standing. Fi rst

renewal  granted by Arrêté

number 2021-2876/MMEE-SG

of 6 August 2021 for a  period

of 3 years .

Foutiere Mal i Held through Fatou Project Licence in good standing.



Foutiere Mal i Held through

option agreement

giving right to

acquire 100%

ownership

Fatou Project

Gold Exploration

Licence in good standing.

Arrêté number 2017-0170/MM-

SG of 2 February 2017.

Appl ication for second three-

year renewal  has  been lodged

and al l  fees  and taxes  have

been paid.

Renewal  approval  pending.

 

Bougouni Lithium Project Development Status

 

The Bougouni  P roject i s  now approaching construc�on readiness  fol lowing the gran�ng of an Environmental  Permit

in November 2019, a  large-scale Mining Licence in November 2021 and securing a  financing package (as  announced

on 19 January 2023).

 

The Company is  implemen�ng a two-phase approach at Bougouni ; the first compris ing a  D M S plant and the second, a

larger flotation plant.

 

The DMS development scenario, announced in September 2022, demonstrated highl ights  including:

 

•             Capital  development cost for the D M S plant and al l  associated infrastructure and

commencement of mining is  estimated at US$65 mi l l ion;

•             Estimated NPV@7% of approximately US$557 mi l l ion (US$420 mi l l ion post-tax);

•             A payback period of three months  (based on ful l  equity financing) from commencement of

operations.

 

The DMS option is  based on:

•             P rocess ing materia l  from the Ngoualana deposit feeding 1Mtpa of l i thium ore to a  D M S

process ing plant;

•             U�l is ing a  conven�onal  ci rcuit to maximise spodumene recovery of over 130,000 tonnes  per

annum of spodumene concentrate; and

•             An ini tia l  four-year mine l i fe.

 

The D M S opera�on has  a  revenue forecast expected to exceed US$1.05 bi l l ion in less  than four years , based on

prevai l ing broker consensus  pricing averaging US$2,080 per tonne (FO B bas is ).  The D M S opera�on targets

produc�on of a  5.5% Li2O  spodumene concentrate product which is  cons istent with other producers  currently ac�ve

in the market.

 

The future expansion of Bougouni  i s  expected to con�nue with the construc�on and commiss ioning of a  down-stream

flota�on plant expected to be supported by u�l is ing the D M S plant cashflows in order to exploit the resources  at

Sogola-Baoulé and Boumou, as  wel l  as  longer term exploration prospects .

 

The updated Feas ibi l i ty Study for the flota�on plant, announced in June 2022, confirmed a very robust project with

key metric highl ights  including:

 

•             NPV@7% of US$760M (US$567M post-tax) compared to US$293M (US$201M post tax) in the

original  Feas ibi l i ty Study.

•             Li fe of mine (8.5 years) revenue exceeding US$2.145 bi l l ion based on an average sel l  price of

US$1,060 per tonne (FOB bas is ).

•             C1* cash costs  of US$362 per tonne of 6% Li2O  spodumene concentrate ("S C6"), and costs  of

US$474 per tonne including transportation and other sel l ing costs .

•             Total  production of 2,024,000 tonnes  with an annual  average production of 238,000 tonnes.

•             Capital  cost of US$154 mi l l ion.

 

*   C1 ca s h cos t i ncl ude s  a l l  mi ni ng, proce s s i ng a nd a l l  ge ne ra l  a nd a dmi ni s tra �on cos ts  pe r tonne  s ol d, a nd

a ddi ti ona l  to tha t the  cos ts  of tra ns port to port a nd a s s oci a te d s e l l i ng cos ts

 

Bougouni Lithium Project Resource Expansion

 

I n March 2023, the Company launched a dri l l ing campaign across  the Boumou, Bougouni  South and Ngoualana



I n March 2023, the Company launched a dri l l ing campaign across  the Boumou, Bougouni  South and Ngoualana

prospects  with the objec�ve of enhancing the current JO RC Resource inventory and further extending the mine l i fe of

the asset. 

 

Post period end, the Company reported assay results  from the dri l l ing programme which confirmed the iden�fica�on

of further high-grade mineral isation and the extens ion of wide high-grade pegmatite zones.

 

Highl ights  included the confirma�on of further wide, high-grade extens ions  at the Boumou prospect with s ignificant

results  including 24m at 1.13% Li2O  from 55m (including 8m at 1.37% Li2O  from 55m).  The Boumou prospect has

been declared as  a  high priori ty target for further dri l l ing to extend and define the pegma�te bodies  to a l low a new

resource estimate to be completed.

 

Results  from the Bougouni  South target dri l l ing programme also returned s ignificant l i thium mineral ised

intersec�ons including 11m at 1.14% Li2O  from 71m and 6m at 1.48% Li2O  from 101m.  This  dri l l ing confirmed

extens ive pegma�te veins  at Bougouni  South that require addi�onal  explora�on including diamond dri l l ing to

determine structural  controls  and extent of mineral isation.

 

At the Ngoualana prospect, diamond dri l l  holes  were completed along the strike of the orebody to obtain variabi l i ty

test samples  and returned wide high-grade intersec�ons up to 37m at 2.17% Li2O  from 3m to end of hole in dri l l  hole

MT004.

 

Off-take Arrangements

 

Kodal  agreed a binding term sheet with Suay Chin in March 2017 which contemplates  that the par�es  wi l l  nego�ate

an extended off-take agreement for between 80% and 100% of the spodumene product produced at Bougouni  for a

period of three years . The off-take term sheet sets  out certain agreed off-take principles  that are to be included in the

off-take agreement including the par�es  agreeing to buy and sel l  the contract quan�ty as  wel l  as  the formal

agreement including a  right to match any third party off-take terms agreed for a  period of three years  fol lowing the

expiry of the formal  agreement. W hi lst a  formal  agreement has  not been entered into, Suay Chin retains  the first right

of refusal  for a  period of three years  from first produc�on of product from Bougouni  whereby Kodal  may not enter

into any agreement with a  third party to sel l  more than 20% of future produc�on from Bougouni  without having first

offered to sel l  the production to Suay Chin on the terms offered by the third party.

 

As  part of the financing package announced on 19 January 2023, the Company has  agreed a 12-month exclus ivi ty

period during which Kodal  and the Hainan Group wi l l  seek to nego�ate an off-take agreement over that por�on of

spodumene produc�on from Bougouni  which K M UK  is  able to sel l  without breaching i ts  prior agreement with Suay

Chin or triggering any existing rights  of fi rst refusal .

 

Gold Exploration Projects

 

The primary focus  during the year under review has  been advancing the technical  and corporate aspects  of project

development at the Bougouni  Li thium P roject, however the Company remains  commiIed to the future explora�on and

resource development of i ts  gold properties .

 

I n par�cular, the Board wi l l  focus  on the progress ion towards  establ ishing a  maiden resource in the near-term for

Niél lé, in northern Côte d'I voire, where we have iden�fied an anomalous  trend extending over 4.5km and which

remains  open along strike. Intercepts  from previous  dri l l ing include: 26m @ 1.95 g/t Au from 32m, and 26m @1.79 g/t

Au from 108m.  O f equal  importance is  Fatou, in southern Mal i , which has  a  historical  resource es�mate of ~350 koz

Au. Recent dri l l  intercepts  from Fatou include 23m @ 1.63 g/t Au from 82m, and 6m @ 1.49 g/t Au from 40m.

 

I mportantly, Kodal  wi l l  be wel l  funded to advance these gold proper�es  without further di lu�on to shareholders

fol lowing Hainan's  subscrip�on for new shares  in Kodal , which wi l l  del iver US$17.75 mi l l ion in new capital .  Some of

these funds  wi l l  be directed towards  a  comprehensive explora�on programme across  our priori ty targets  in Côte

d'Ivoire and Mal i , as  wel l  as  the assessment of new exploration and development opportunities  in West Africa.

 

A draV budget has  been prepared to undertake a major explora�on campaign at Fatou, Niel le and Dabakala with the

aim of defining s ignificant new gold resources.  The explora�on programmes wi l l  include detai led geological  review,

geochemical  sampl ing, geophys ical  surveys, and extens ive dri l l ing campaigns.

 

Bernard Aylward



Chief Executive Officer

5 September 2023

 

FINANCE REVIEW

 

Results of operations

 

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group reported a loss  before other comprehensive income for the year of

£1,461,000, including share-based payment costs  of £517,000 (2022: £343,000), compared to a  loss  of £903,000 in

the previous  year.  Administra�ve expenses  have increased compared to last year as  corporate ac�vity has  increased

with nego�a�ons surrounding the future of the Bougouni  P roject.  The Group has  con�nued to run the offices in Mal i

and Côte d'I voire and s ignificant addi�onal  explora�on ac�vity for both gold and l i thium was undertaken during the

year.  Further information is  provided in the Operational  Review above.

 

During the year, the Group invested £3,227,000 (2022: £2,547,000) in explora�on and evalua�on expenditure on i ts

various  projects  and £513,000 of expenditure on the Bougouni  West project was  reclass ified as  held for sale. As  a

result, the carrying value of the Group's  capital ised explora�on and evalua�on expenditure increased from

£11,442,000 to £14,522,000 aVer taking account of the effects  of foreign exchange.  At 31 March 2023, aVer taking

account of the effects  of foreign exchange, the carrying value of the gold projects  in Mal i  and Côte d'I voire was

£3,306,000 (2022: £2,411,000) and of the l i thium projects  in Mal i  was  £11,216,000 (2022: £9,031,000).

 

Cash balances  as  at 31 March 2023 were £545,000, a  decrease of £501,000 on the previous  year's  level  of

£1,046,000.  Net assets  of the Group at the year-end were £14,883,000 (2022: £12,091,000).

 

Financing

 

O n 4 May 2022 the Company announced that i t ra ised £3,000,000 (before expenses) via  a  subscrip�on for

130,142,857 shares  and an oversubscribed placing of 941,285,712 shares  at a  price of 0.28 pence per P lacing Share

(the 'P lacing').  The funds  raised supported Kodal  in the con�nuing development and prepara�on for financing and

construction of i ts  flagship Bougouni  Li thium Project in Mal i .

 

O n 3 August 2023, the Company announced the prepayment of US$3,500,000 of the subscrip�on agreement entered

into as  part of the funding package with Hainan.  The prepayment is  repayable or conver�ble into new ordinary

shares  of the Company should the funding package not proceed. The Company has  sole discre�on over the use of the

funds including for general  working capital .

 

Going concern and funding

 

The Group has  not earned revenue during the year to 31 March 2023 as  i t i s  s�l l  in the explora�on and development

phases  of i ts  bus iness . The opera�ons of the Group are currently being financed from funds which the Company has

raised from the issue of new ordinary shares. O n 31 August 2023 the group has  cash at bank amoun�ng to

£1,984,000.

 

I n January 2023 the Group s igned binding agreements  with Hainan to enter into a  joint venture to develop the

Bougouni  Li thium P roject. Under these agreements , Hainan wi l l  subscribe for equity in the joint venture vehicle

amounting US$100 mi l l ion; they wi l l  a lso subscribe for equity of US$17.75m in the ordinary shares  of Kodal  Minerals

P lc, plus  the immediate repayment to the Company for historical  development expenses  amoun�ng to US$5.66m, the

agreements  together being the Financing Transaction.

 

Comple�on of the F inancing Transac�on is  subject to mee�ng various  condi�ons precedent including Hainan

receiving formal  Government approval  for the investment and Kodal  comple�ng a restructure of i ts  Mal i  subs idiary

holdings.  At the date of this  report, i t i s  noted that Hainan has  received al l  necessary approvals  from the Chinese

Government authori�es  to a l low i t to complete i ts  funding and investment including "O verseas  P roject I nvestment

Fi l ing Cer�ficates" from the Hainan P rovince Na�onal  Development and Reform Commiss ion ("ND RC") and Company

Overseas  Investment Certi ficate from the Department of Commerce of Hainan Province. 

Kodal  has  con�nued with the restructuring of i ts  subs idiary companies  and confirms that the new mining company

Les  Mines  de Li thium de Bougouni  has  been ful ly registered and the Mal i  D NGM no�fied that this  new company wi l l

be the owner and operator of the mining l icence.  I n addi�on, the Company has  completed the restructure of Future

Minerals  SAR L such that a l l  of Kodal 's  l i thium assets  in Mal i  are now 100% owned by Kodal  Mining UK  Limited (the

joint venture vehicle for Kodal  and Hainan to develop the Bougouni  Li thium project).  Kodal  i s  con�nuing to work with



joint venture vehicle for Kodal  and Hainan to develop the Bougouni  Li thium project).  Kodal  i s  con�nuing to work with

the relevant authori ties  to final ise a l l  regulatory matters  to a l low completion of the Financing Transaction.

 

Both Hainan and the Company remain commiIed to the F inancing Transac�on and Hainan has  recently advanced to

the Company a US$3.5m prepayment on i ts  subscrip�on for ordinary shares  in the Company. The long stop date for

final is ing the condi�ons precedent has  been extended several  �mes by mutual  consent and the par�es  con�nue to

work together to expedite the completion of the Financing Transaction at the earl iest opportunity.

 

The Group has  prepared cash flow forecasts  for the period ending 30 September 2024 under several  scenarios ,

including on the bas is  that the Hainan transac�on comple�on is  delayed for several  more months  and also that the

Hainan transac�on does  not proceed.  Under both of these scenarios  the Group wi l l  require further funding within the

foreseeable future.  

 

The directors  are confident of ra is ing sufficient funding to cover ongoing expenditure and overheads, based on

indica�ons from Hainan that they would make further prepayments  avai lable, and/or the Group wi l l  be able to raise

further equity given the qual i ty of the Bougouni  l i thium project, con�nuing interest from poten�al  investors  and

finance providers , and forecasts  showing con�nuing strong demand and pricing for spodumene and l i thium.

Although the Group has  been successful  in the past obtaining addi�onal  funding, there is  no assurance that i t wi l l  be

able to do so in the future or that such arrangements  wi l l  be on terms advantageous to the Group.

 

These condi�ons indicate the existence of a  materia l  uncertainty that may cast doubt on the Group's  abi l i ty to

con�nue as  a  going concern.  The consol idated statements  for the year ended 31 March 2023 have been prepared on

a going concern bas is  as  the Board is  of the opinion that the group wi l l  be successful  in comple�ng the Hainan

transac�on in the near future and/or securing further funding in order to meet i ts  l iabi l i�es  as  they fa l l  due for at

least 12 months  from the date of s igning these accounts . Accordingly, these consol idated financial  s tatements  do not

include any adjustments  to the recoverabi l i ty and class ifica�on of recorded assets  and l iabi l i�es  and related

expenses  that might be necessary should the Group be unable to continue as  a  going concern.  

 

Utilising key performance indicators ("KPIs")

 

The fol lowing K P I s  are used by the Group to ass ist i t in monitoring i ts  cash pos i�on and assess ing costs  and

exploration and development activi ties :

 
KPI 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Cash and cash equivalents  (a) £545,000 £1,046,000
Administrative expense (b) £944,000 £541,000
Exploration and evaluation expenditure (c) £3,227,000 £2,547,000

 

The directors  have provided more information on the state of the Group's  financing and operational  activi ty above.

 

a)    'Cash and cash equivalents ' i s  used to measure the Group's  financial  l iquidity.  Cash and cash equivalents

have decreased by £0.5 mi l l ion in the year as  the Group has  incurred a higher level  of explora�on and

evaluation expenditure than in prior year.

 

b)    'Administra�ve expenses ' i s  used to measure the Group's  administra�ve costs  and opera�ng results . 

Administra�ve expenses  for the year were £0.9 mi l l ion, an increase of £0.4 mi l l ion compared to the previous

year.   Group corporate ac�vity has  increased this  year with nego�a�ons surrounding the future of the

Bougouni  Project.  The Group has  a lso continued to run the offices  in Mal i  and Côte d'Ivoire.

 

c)    'Explora�on and evalua�on expenditure' i s  used to measure expenditure on the Group's  gold and l i thium

projects .  Explora�on and evalua�on expenditure in the year was  £0.4 mi l l ion higher than prior year as

additional  exploration activi ty for both gold and l i thium was undertaken during the year.

 

Financial risk management objectives and policies

 

The Group's  principal  financial  instruments  comprise cash and trade and other payables .  I t i s , and has  been

throughout the year under review, the Group's  pol icy that no trading in financial  instruments  shal l  be undertaken. The

main risks  aris ing from the Group's  financial  instruments  are l iquidity risk, price risk and foreign exchange risk. The

Board reviews and agrees  pol icies  for managing each of these risks  and they are summarised below.

 

Liquidity risk

P rudent l iquidity risk management impl ies  maintaining sufficient cash reserves  to fund the Group's  explora�on and



P rudent l iquidity risk management impl ies  maintaining sufficient cash reserves  to fund the Group's  explora�on and

opera�ng ac�vi�es. Management prepares  and monitors  forecasts  of the Group's  cash flows and cash balances

monthly and ensures  that the Group maintains  sufficient l iquid funds  to meet i ts  expected future l iabi l i�es. The

Group intends to raise funds  in discrete tranches  to provide sufficient cash resources  to manage the ac�vi�es

through to revenue generation.

 

Price risk

The Group is  exposed to fluctua�ng prices  of commodi�es, including gold and l i thium, and the existence and qual i ty

of these commodi�es  within the l icence and project areas. The Directors  wi l l  con�nue to review the prices  of relevant

commodi�es  as  development of the projects  con�nues and wi l l  cons ider how this  risk can be mi�gated closer to the

commencement of mining.

 

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates  in a  number of overseas  jurisdic�ons and carries  out transac�ons in a  number of currencies

including Sterl ing, C FA Franc, US dol lars  and Austral ian dol lars . The Group does  not have a pol icy of us ing hedging

instruments  but wi l l  con�nue to keep this  under review.  The Group operates  foreign currency bank accounts  to help

mitigate the foreign currency risk.

 

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

 

The Group is  exposed to a  number of risks  which i t seeks  to mitigate as  set out in the table below:

 

Risk
 

Comment and Mitigating Actions
 

Exploration and Development Risk
The Group is  a  mineral  explora�on company and
the success  of the Company is  dependent on the
discovery and/or acquis i�on of Mineral  Reserves
and Mineral  Resources  and the successful
development of mines  therefrom. S ignificant risk
exists  within technical , legal  and financial  aspects
of the explora�on for and the development of
mines, which may have an adverse effect on the
Group's  bus iness .
 

 
There is  no assurance that the Group's  explora�on and
poten�al  future development ac�vi�es  wi l l  be
successful , and sta�s�cal ly few proper�es  that are
explored are ul�mately developed into profitable
producing mines.
The Group ensures  that there is  regular review of
projects , expenditure and explora�on ac�vity to
maintain focus  on targets  and ensure best poss ible
informa�on in the decis ion-making process  to focus
resources  and expenditure upon key explora�on and
development targets .
 

Reliability of Mineral Resources and Mineral
Reserves
The Group has  reported Mineral  Resources  for i ts
Bougouni  Li thium project in West Africa.  Any
es�mates  wi l l  be based on a range of assump�ons,
including geological , metal lurgical  and technical
factors ; there can be no assurance that the
anticipated tonnages  or grades  wi l l  be achieved.
 

 
 
The Mineral  Resource es�mates  are prepared by third
party consultants  who have cons iderable experience
and are certi fied by appropriate bodies .
 
Mineral  Resources  are reported as  general  indicators
and should not be interpreted as  assurances  of minerals
or the profi tabi l i ty of current or future operations.
 
 

Licensing and Title Risk
The Group's  explora�on and future development
opportuni�es  are dependent upon maintaining
clear tenure and access  to l icences  as  wel l  as
ensuring the relevant opera�on l icences, permits
and regulatory consents  are val id.  The l icences  and
regulatory permits  may be withdrawn or made
subject to l imitations.
 
The gran�ng of l icences  and permits  are a  prac�cal
maIer subject to the discre�on of the appl icable
government or government office. The
interpreta�ons, amendments  to exis�ng laws and
regula�ons, or more stringent enforcement of
existing laws and regulations  could have a materia l
adverse impact on the Group's  results  of operations
and financial  condition.
 
A new Mining Code has  passed before the Republ ic
of Mal i  Assembl ie Na�onale.  The Company's
l icences  have been granted under the previous
Mining Code (June 21 2012 (modified)) and remain
subject to these condi�ons.  I n addi�on, future
Mining Licence appl ica�ons wi l l  remain subject to
the 2012 Mining code unless  the Company
speci fical ly request a  variation to the new code.
 

 
The Group compl ies  with existing laws and regulations.
 
The Group ensures  that the regulatory repor�ng and the
government compl iance requirements  for each l icence
are met.
 
There is  a  risk that nego�a�ons with a  government in
rela�on to the grant, renewal  or extens ion of a  l icence
may not result in the grant, renewal  or extens ion taking
effect prior to the expiry of the previous  l icence period,
and there can be no assurance of the terms of any
extens ion, renewal  or grant.
 
The Group regularly monitors  the good standing of i ts
l icences.
 
 

Political Risk
The Group has  s ignificant ac�vi�es  in Mal i  and
Cȏte d'I voire in West Africa.  The success  of the

. 
 
The Trans i�on Government instal led fol lowing the



Cȏte d'I voire in West Africa.  The success  of the
Group wi l l  be influenced by the legal , pol i�cal  and
economic s i tua�on in Mal i , Cȏte d'I voire and the
wider African region. Countries  in the region have
experienced pol i�cal  instabi l i ty and economic
uncertainty in the past.
government pol icy in the countries  in which the
Group operates  can be unpredictable, and the
ins�tu�ons of government and market economy
may be unstable and subject to rapid change, which
may result in a  materia l  adverse effect on the
Group's  operations.
 
The renewal  of explora�on and exploita�on
l icences  is  an area of risk given the countries  in
which the Group operates . W hi lst the Group has  in
place legal  �tles  on the assets  in i ts  porUol io, there
remains  a  risk to the Group that changes  within
regimes could put the ownership of these assets  at
risk.
 
The Group is  a lso at risk of taxa�on reviews that
may change or apply more stringently the laws and
regulations  of the countries  in which i t operates .
 
 

The Trans i�on Government instal led fol lowing the
mi l i tary coup of 24 May 2021 has  con�nued to confirm
proposed elec�on �mel ines  of February 2024 to return
Mal i  to a  democra�cal ly elected Government.  A
referendum held in June 2023 al lowed for changes  to the
Mal i  consti tution.
 
Mal i  adopted a new Mining Code in August 2023 with a
key element being the poten�al  for the Government to
purchase up to an addi�onal  20% interest in a  project
(previous ly 10% interest). 
 
I n general , the securi ty risk in Mal i  remains  high.  The
United Na�ons voted to end the peacekeeping miss ion in
June 2023 with a  phased departure of the UN forces
between 1 July and 30 December 2023.  The securi ty
s i tua�on in the north and east of the country remains
fragi le and unrest has  con�nued in neighbouring
Burkina Faso and Niger.
 
I n Cȏte d'I voire, the pol i�cal  s i tua�on has  been calm
since 2011.  The elec�on in 2015 returned the
government of P res ident O uaIara with increased
popular support and on 31 O ctober 2020 P res ident
Ouattara was  returned for a  further 5-year mandate.
 
The economic s i tua�on in Cȏte d'I voire is  improving
dramatical ly with s igni ficant government expenditure on
infrastructure and development activi ty.
 

Financial Risk
The Group is  an explora�on company and does  not
generate revenue or sel f-sustaining funding at this
stage. The Group requires  funds  to support ongoing
explora�on and future development of mineral
proper�es. The Group's  access  to funding wi l l
depend on i ts  abi l i ty to obtain financing through
the rais ing of equity capital , joint venture projects ,
debt financing, farm outs  or other means.
 
There is  no assurance that the Group wi l l  be
successful  in obtaining the necessary financing in a
�mely manner on acceptable terms to complete i ts
investment strategy. The equity markets  and abi l i ty
to raise finance were s ignificantly affected by the
Covid-19 pandemic but have subsequently
improved.
 
I f the Group is  unable to obtain addi�onal
financing as  needed, some interests  may be
rel inquished, and / or the scope of the opera�ons
reduced.
 

 
The Board regularly reviews the levels  of discre�onary
spending on capital  i tems and explora�on expenditure.
This  includes  regularly upda�ng working capital
models , reviewing actual  costs  against budget and
assess ing poten�al  impacts  on future funding
requirements  and performance targets .
 
I n the past, the Group has  been successful  in ra is ing
addi�onal  equity finance to support i ts  ongoing
activi ties .
 
 

 

S172 Statement

 

The Directors  of the Company have a duty to promote the success  of the Company. A director of the Company must act

in the way they cons ider, in good fa i th, to promote the success  of the Company for the benefit of i ts  members , and in

doing so have regard (amongst other matters) to:

 

•             the l ikely consequences  of any decis ion in the long term;

•             the interests  of the Company's  employees;

•             the need to foster the Company's  bus iness  relationships  with suppl iers , customers  and others ;

•             the impact of the Company's  operations  on the community and the environment;

•             the des irabi l i ty of the Company to maintain a  reputation for high standards  of bus iness  conduct; and

•             the need to act fa i rly between members  of the Company.

 

The Directors  are commiIed to developing and maintaining a  governance framework that i s  appropriate to the

business  and supports  effective decis ion making coupled with robust overs ight of risks  and internal  controls .

 

The Board bel ieves  that long-term success  requires  good rela�ons with a  range of different stakeholder groups both

internal  and external .  The board has  iden�fied Kodal 's  s takeholders  to include employees  and consultants  working

for the Company, the local  communi�es  and governments  in Mal i  and Cote d'I voire in which i t operates , suppl iers

and contractors , as  wel l  as  shareholders .  As  the Company looks  to bring the Bougouni  Li thium project into

development, the importance of capital  equipment, suppl iers , contractors , local  workforce, finance providers  and

offtake customers  wi l l  increase s igni ficantly.

 



 

I n the Corporate Governance Report, we explain the regular engagement with employees, communi�es  and local

governments  in West Africa where we operate; and the impact assessment we have performed on the environment and

local  society as  part of our permi_ng process . We also comment on the decis ion-making for the long-term success  of

the Company, i ts  governance and culture; as  wel l  as  the nature and methods of communica�on with a l l

shareholders .  

 

The Group rel ies  heavi ly on having suppl iers  and contractors  with appropriate levels  of experience and exper�se of

working successful ly with junior miners  in West Africa, as  wel l  as  profess ional  advice for AI M quoted companies  in

London. Accordingly, Kodal  i s  committed to maintaining constructive relationships  with a l l  i ts  suppl iers  and advisers

and operating in l ine with i ts  Corporate Code of Conduct.

 

Signed on behalf of the Board

 

 

 

Bernard Aylward

Chief Executive Officer

5 September 2023

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

 

Note  
Year ended 31

March

2023

 Year ended 31
March

2022

   £  £

Continuing operations      

    

Admi ni s tra ti ve  e xpe ns e s   (944,473)  (540,655)

Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts 5  (516,581)  (342,876)

    

OPERATING LOSS   (1,461,054)  (883,531)

    

Fi na nce  cha rge   -  (19,556)

    

LOSS BEFORE TAX 2  (1, 461,054)  (903,087)

    

Ta xa ti on 6  -  -

   

LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS   
 

(1, 461,054)

  

(903,087)

     

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME     

    

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or
loss   

     

Curre ncy tra ns l a ti on ga i n / (l os s )   331,259  (108,167)

    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR   (1,129,795)  (1,011,254)

     

Loss per share     

Ba s i c a nd di l ute d (pe nce ) 4  (0.0087)  (0.0057)

 

The loss  for the current and prior years  and the total  comprehensive income for the current and the prior years  are

whol ly attributable to owners  of the parent company.

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 MARCH 2023

 



 

 
Group

31 March 2023

 Group

31 Ma rch
2022

Note  £  £

NON-CURRENT ASSETS     

Inta ngi bl e  a s s e ts 7  14,521,888  11,442,403

Prope rty, pl a nt a nd e qui pme nt 8  91,771  3,309

Amounts  due  from

s ubs i di a ry unde rta ki ngs
9  

 

-

  

-

Inve s tme nts  i n s ubs i di a ry

unde rta ki ngs

 

9
 

 

-

 

-

    

  14,613,659 11,445,712

CURRENT ASSETS   

Othe r re ce i va bl e s 10 11,175 5,769

Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts  544,988 1,045,515

 556,163 1,051,284

Non-curre nt a s s e ts  cl a s s i fi e d a s
he l d for s a l e 7 513,109 -

  

TOTAL ASSETS  15,682,931 12,496,996

   

CURRENT LIABILITIES   

Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 11 (800,007) (406,341)

  

TOTAL LIABILITIES  (800,007) (406,341)

 

NET ASSETS 14,882,924 12,090,655

 

EQUITY  

Attri buta bl e  to owne rs  of the
pa re nt:   

Sha re  ca pi ta l 12 5,315,619 4,947,595

Sha re  pre mi um a ccount 12 18,765,206 15,933,071

Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nt re s e rve 1,537,779 1,150,678

Tra ns l a ti on re s e rve 12,632 (318,627)

Re ta i ne d de fi ci t (10,748,312) (9,622,062)

  

TOTAL EQUITY 14,882,924 12,090,655

 

The Company's  loss  for the year ended 31 March 2023 was £1,206,922 (2022:  £651,696).

 

The financial  s tatements  were approved and authorised for i ssue by the board of directors  on 5 September 2023 and

signed on i ts  behal f by

 

Charles  Joseland

Director                                                               

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

 

Share
capital  

Share
premium

account  

Share
based

payment
reserve

  

 

Translation
reserve

 

Retained
deficit

 

Total equity

Group £  £  £  £  £  £  

At 31 March 2021 4,916,364 15,841,134

 

807,802

 

(210,460) (8,718,975) 12,635,865
 

  



  

Comprehensive income  

Los s  for the  ye a r - - - - (903,087) (903,087)  

Other comprehensive income  

Curre ncy tra ns l a ti on l os s - - - (108,167) - (108,167)  

Total comprehensive income
for the year

- -

 

-

 

(108,167) (903,087) (1,011,254)
 

 

Transactions with owners  

Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nt - - 342,876 - - 342,876  

Proce e ds  from s ha re s
i s s ue d 31,231 91,937 -

-
- 123,168

 

 

At 31 March 2022 4,947,595 15,933,071

 

1,150,678

 

(318,627) (9,622,062) 12,090,655
 

             

Comprehensive income             

Los s  for the  ye a r -  -  -  -  (1,461,054)  (1, 461,054)  

Other comprehensive income             

Curre ncy tra ns l a ti on ga i n - - - 331,259 - 331,259  

Total comprehensive income
for the year

-  -  

 

-

  

331,259

 

(1,461,054)

 

(1,129,795)
 

            

Transactions with owners             

Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nt -  -  721,905  -  -  721,905  

Proce e ds  from s ha re s
i s s ue d 334,821  2,665,179  -

 -  
-

 
3,000,000

 

Proce e ds  from e xe rci s e  of
s ha re  opti ons

33,203  309,171  -

  

-

 

-

 

342,374
 

Sha re  opti ons  l a ps e -  -  (334,804)  -  334,804  -  

Sha re  i s s ue  e xpe ns e s -  (142,215)  -  -  -  (142,215)  

 

At 31 March 2023 5,315,619  18,765,206  

 

1,537,779

  

12,632

 

(10,748,312)

 

14,882,924
 

             

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

 

   
Group

Year ended

 Group

Ye a r e nde d

   31 March
2023

 31 Ma rch
2022

Note  £  £

Cash flows from operating activities   

Los s  be fore  ta x  (1,461,054) (903,087)

Adjus tme nts  for non-ca s h i te ms :   

Wri te  ba ck of i mpa i rme nt of
i nte rcompa ny ba l a nce s  - -

Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts  516,581  342,876

Ope ra ti ng ca s h fl ow be fore  move me nts
i n worki ng ca pi ta l  (944,473) (560,211)

   

Movement in working capital   



(Incre a s e ) / de cre a s e  i n re ce i va bl e s  (5,406) 10,244

Incre a s e  / (de cre a s e ) i n pa ya bl e s  393,666 (218,275)

 

Ne t move me nts  i n worki ng ca pi ta l
 

388,260 (208,031)

 

Ne t ca s h outfl ow from ope ra ti ng
a cti vi ti e s

 
(556,213) (768,242)

   

Cash flows from investing activities   

Purcha s e  of ta ngi bl e  a s s e ts 8 (103,633) (1,600)

Purcha s e  of i nta ngi bl e  a s s e ts 7 (3,006,324) (2,474,768)

Loa ns  to s ubs i di a ry unde rta ki ngs  - -

 

Ne t ca s h outfl ow from i nve s ti ng
a cti vi ti e s

 
(3,109,957) (2,476,368)

   

Cash flow from financing activities   

Ne t proce e ds  from s ha re  i s s ue s 12 2,857,785 1,962,064

Ne t proce e ds  from e xe rci s e  of s ha re
opti ons  342,374 -

  

Ne t ca s h i nfl ow from fi na nci ng
a cti vi ti e s  3,200,159 1,962,064

  

(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (466,011) (1,282,546)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
the year

 

 

 

1,045,515

 

2,432,807

Exchange (loss) on cash (34,516) (104,746)

 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the
year

 

 544,988 1,045,515

 

 

Cash and cash equivalents  comprise cash on hand and bank balances.

 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The financial informa�on set out above does not cons�tute the Company's statutory accounts for the years
ended 31 March 2023 or 2022 but is derived from those accounts.

Statutory accounts for 2022 have been delivered to the registrar of companies, and those for 2023 will be
delivered in due course. The auditor's report for the 2022 accounts was (i) unqualified, (ii) did not contain any
maIer to which the auditor drew aIen�on by way of emphasis without modifying its opinion and (iii) did not
contain a statement under s.498(2) or (3) of the Companies Act 2006.

The auditor's report for the 2023 accounts was (i) unqualified, (ii) contained a material uncertainty in respect
of going concern to which the auditor drew aIen�on by way of emphasis without modifying its opinion and
(iii) did not contain a statement under s.498(2) or (3) of the Companies Act 2006.

 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

 

The Group has  adopted the accoun�ng pol icies  set out below in the prepara�on of the financial  s tatements . Al l  of

these pol icies  have been appl ied cons istently throughout the period unless  otherwise stated.

 

The Company is  incorporated in England and Wales  with registered number 07220790.  The Company's  registered

office is  at Prince Frederick House, 35-39 Maddox Street, London W1S 2PP.

 

Basis of preparation

 

The consol idated financial  s tatements  of Kodal  Minerals  P lc are prepared in accordance with the historical  cost

conven�on and in accordance with UK-adopted I nterna�onal  Accoun�ng Standards.  The Company's  ordinary shares



conven�on and in accordance with UK-adopted I nterna�onal  Accoun�ng Standards.  The Company's  ordinary shares

are quoted on AIM, a  market operated by the London Stock Exchange.

 

I n accordance with the exemp�on al lowed by Sec�on 408(3) of the Companies  Act 2006, the Company has  not

presented i ts  own income statement or statement of comprehensive income.

 

Going concern

 

The Group has  not earned revenue during the year to 31 March 2023 as  i t i s  s�l l  in the explora�on and development

phases  of i ts  bus iness . The opera�ons of the Group are currently being financed from funds which the Company has

raised from the issue of new ordinary shares. O n 31 August 2023 the group has  cash at bank amoun�ng to

£1,984,000.

 

I n January 2023 the Group s igned binding agreements  with Hainan to enter into a  joint venture to develop the

Bougouni  Li thium P roject. Under these agreements , Hainan wi l l  subscribe for equity in the joint venture vehicle

amounting US$100 mi l l ion; they wi l l  a lso subscribe for equity of US$17.75m in the ordinary shares  of Kodal  Minerals

P lc, plus  the immediate repayment to the Company for historical  development expenses  amoun�ng to US$5.66m, the

agreements  together being the Financing Transaction.

 

Comple�on of the F inancing Transac�on is  subject to mee�ng various  condi�ons precedent including Hainan

receiving formal  Government approval  for the investment and Kodal  comple�ng a restructure of i ts  Mal i  subs idiary

holdings.  At the date of this  report, i t i s  noted that Hainan has  received al l  necessary approvals  from the Chinese

Government authori�es  to a l low i t to complete i ts  funding and investment including "O verseas  P roject I nvestment

Fi l ing Cer�ficates" from the Hainan P rovince Na�onal  Development and Reform Commiss ion ("ND RC") and Company

Overseas  Investment Certi ficate from the Department of Commerce of Hainan Province. 

Kodal  has  con�nued with the restructuring of i ts  subs idiary companies  and confirms that the new mining company

Les  Mines  de Li thium de Bougouni  has  been ful ly registered and the Mal i  D NGM no�fied that this  new company wi l l

be the owner and operator of the mining l icence.  I n addi�on, the Company has  completed the restructure of Future

Minerals  SAR L such that a l l  of Kodal 's  l i thium assets  in Mal i  are now 100% owned by Kodal  Mining UK  Limited (the

joint venture vehicle for Kodal  and Hainan to develop the Bougouni  Li thium project).  Kodal  i s  con�nuing to work with

the relevant authori ties  to final ise a l l  regulatory matters  to a l low completion of the Financing Transaction.

 

Both Hainan and the Company remain commiIed to the F inancing Transac�on and Hainan has  recently advanced to

the Company a US$3.5m prepayment on i ts  subscrip�on for ordinary shares  in the Company. The long stop date for

final is ing the condi�ons precedent has  been extended several  �mes by mutual  consent and the par�es  con�nue to

work together to expedite the completion of the Financing Transaction at the earl iest opportunity.

The Group has  prepared cash flow forecasts  for the period ending 30 September 2024 under several  scenarios ,

including on the bas is  that the Hainan transac�on comple�on is  delayed for several  more months  and also that the

Hainan transac�on does  not proceed.  Under both of these scenarios  the Group wi l l  require further funding within the

foreseeable future.  

 

The directors  are confident of ra is ing sufficient funding to cover ongoing expenditure and overheads, based on

indica�ons from Hainan that they would make further prepayments  avai lable, and/or the Group wi l l  be able to raise

further equity given the qual i ty of the Bougouni  l i thium project, con�nuing interest from poten�al  investors  and

finance providers , and forecasts  showing con�nuing strong demand and pricing for spodumene and l i thium.

Although the Group has  been successful  in the past obtaining addi�onal  funding, there is  no assurance that i t wi l l  be

able to do so in the future or that such arrangements  wi l l  be on terms advantageous to the Group.

 

These condi�ons indicate the existence of a  materia l  uncertainty that may cast doubt on the Group's  abi l i ty to

con�nue as  a  going concern.  The consol idated statements  for the year ended 31 March 2023 have been prepared on

a going concern bas is  as  the Board is  of the opinion that the group wi l l  be successful  in comple�ng the Hainan

transac�on in the near future and/or securing further funding in order to meet i ts  l iabi l i�es  as  they fa l l  due for at

least 12 months  from the date of s igning these accounts . Accordingly, these consol idated financial  s tatements  do not

include any adjustments  to the recoverabi l i ty and class ifica�on of recorded assets  and l iabi l i�es  and related

expenses  that might be necessary should the Group be unable to continue as  a  going concern.  

 

Basis of consolidation

 

The Group financial  s tatements  consol idate those of the Company and al l  of i ts  subs idiary undertakings  drawn up to

the statement of financial  pos i�on date. Subs idiary undertakings  are en��es over which the Group has  the power to

control  the financial  and opera�ng pol icies  so as  to obtain benefits  from their ac�vi�es. The Group obtains  and



control  the financial  and opera�ng pol icies  so as  to obtain benefits  from their ac�vi�es. The Group obtains  and

exercises  control  through voting rights .

 

Unreal ised gains  on transac�ons between the Company and i ts  subs idiaries  are el iminated on consol ida�on.

Unreal ised losses  are a lso el iminated unless  the transac�on provides  evidence of an impairment of the asset

transferred. Amounts  reported in the financial  s tatements  of subs idiaries  have been adjusted where necessary to

ensure cons istency with the accounting pol icies  adopted by the Group.

 

Foreign currency translation

 

I tems included in the Group's  consol idated financial  s tatements  are measured us ing the currency of the primary

economic environment in which the Group operates  ("the func�onal  currency"). The financial  s tatements  are

presented in pounds sterl ing ("£"), which is  the func�onal  and presenta�onal  currency of the Parent Company and

the presenta�onal  currency of the Group.  End of year balances  in the Group's  West African subs idiary undertakings

were converted us ing an end of year rate of XOF 1 : £0.00135 (2022:  XOF 1 : £0.00129).

 

Transac�ons in foreign currencies  are recorded us ing the rate of exchange rul ing at the date of the transac�on.

Monetary assets  and l iabi l i�es  denominated in foreign currencies  are trans lated us ing the rate of exchange rul ing at

the reporting date and the gains  or losses  on trans lation are included in profi t and loss .  Non-monetary i tems that are

measured in terms of historical  cost in a  foreign currency are trans lated us ing the exchange rates  as  at the dates  of

the original  transac�ons.  Non-monetary i tems measured at fa i r value in a  foreign currency are trans lated us ing the

exchange rates  at the date when the fa ir value was determined.

 

Property, plant and equipment

 

P roperty, plant and equipment are stated at cost less  accumulated deprecia�on and any recognised impairment loss .

Deprecia�on, which is  included in administra�ve expenses, i s  charged so as  to write off the costs  of assets  down to

their res idual  value, over their estimated useful  l ives , us ing the straight-l ine method, on the fol lowing bas is :

 

Plant and machinery                                       4 years

Motor vehicles                                                   4 years

Fixtures , fi ttings  and equipment               4 years

 

W here property, plant and equipment are used in explora�on and evalua�on ac�vi�es, the deprecia�on of the assets

is  capital ised as  part of the cost of explora�on and evalua�on assets .  The assets ' res idual  values  and useful  l ives

are reviewed, and adjusted i f appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

 

Investments in subsidiaries

 

I nvestments  in subs idiaries  are stated at cost less  any provis ion for impairment. W here the recoverable amount of

the investment is  less  than the carrying amount, an impairment is  recognised.

 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure

 

I n accordance with I F RS 6 (Explora�on for and Evalua�on of Mineral  Resources), explora�on and evalua�on costs

incurred before the Group obtains  legal  rights  to explore in a  specific area (a  "project area") are taken to profit or

loss .

 

Upon obtaining legal  rights  to explore in a  project area, the fa ir value of the cons idera�on paid for acquiring those

rights  and subsequent explora�on and evalua�on costs  are capital ised as  explora�on and evalua�on assets . The

costs  of exploring for and evalua�ng mineral  resources  are accumulated with reference to appropriate cost centres

being project areas  or groups of project areas.

 

Upon the technical  feas ibi l i ty and commercial  viabi l i ty of extrac�ng the relevant mineral  resources  becoming

demonstrable, the Group ceases  further capital isation of costs  under IFRS 6.

 

Explora�on and evalua�on assets  are not amor�sed prior to the conclus ion of appraisal  ac�vi�es, but are carried at

cost less  impairment, where the impairment tests  are detai led below.

 

Explora�on and evalua�on assets  are carried forward un�l  the existence (or otherwise) of commercial  reserves  is



Explora�on and evalua�on assets  are carried forward un�l  the existence (or otherwise) of commercial  reserves  is

determined:

•             where commercial  reserves  have been discovered, the carrying value of the explora�on and

evalua�on assets  are reclass ified as  development and produc�on assets  and amor�sed on an

expected unit of production bas is ; or

•             where a project area is  abandoned, or a  decis ion is  made to perform no further work, the

exploration and evaluation assets  are written off in ful l  to profi t or loss .

 

Exploration and evaluation assets - impairment

 

P roject areas, or groups of project areas, are determined to be cash genera�ng units  for the purposes  of assessment

of impairment.

 

W ith reference to a  project area or group of project areas, the explora�on and evalua�on assets  (a long with

associated produc�on and development assets) are assessed for impairment when such facts  and ci rcumstances

suggest that the carrying amount of the assets  may exceed the recoverable amount.

 

Such indicators  include, but are not l imited to, those s i tua�ons outl ined in paragraph 20 of I F RS 6 and include the

point at which a determination is  made as  to whether or not commercial  reserves  exist.

 

The aggregate carrying value is  compared against the expected recoverable amount, general ly by reference to the

present value of the future net cash flows expected to be derived from produc�on of the commercial  reserves.  W here

the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, an impairment is  recognised in profi t or loss .

 

Intangible assets and impairment

 

External ly acquired intangible assets  are ini�al ly recognised at cost and subsequently amor�sed over their useful

economic l ives .  Amor�sa�on, which is  included in administra�ve expenses, i s  charged so as  to write off the costs  of

intangible assets , over their estimated useful  l ives , us ing the straight-l ine method, on the fol lowing bas is :

 

Software                                             3 years

 

Deferred taxation

 

Deferred tax is  provided in ful l , us ing the l iabi l i ty method, on temporary differences  aris ing between the tax bases  of

assets  and l iabi l i�es  and their carrying amounts  in the consol idated financial  s tatements . Deferred tax is  determined

using tax rates  (and laws) that have been enacted or substan�vely enacted by the repor�ng date and are expected to

apply when the related deferred tax is  real ised, or the deferred l iabi l i ty i s  settled.

 

Deferred tax assets  are recognised to the extent that i t i s  probable that the future taxable profit wi l l  be avai lable

against which the temporary di fferences  can be uti l i sed.

 

Financial instruments

 

F inancial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i�es  are recognised on the Statement of F inancial  Pos i�on when the Group

becomes a party to the contractual  provis ions  of the instrument.

 

I F RS 7 (F inancial  I nstruments: D isclosures) requires  informa�on to be disclosed about the impact of financial

instruments  on the Group's  risk profile, how the risks  aris ing from financial  instruments  might affect the en�ty's

performance, and how these risks  are being managed.  The required disclosures  have been made in Note 14 to the

financial  s tatements .

 

The Group's  pol icies  include that no trading in derivative financial  instruments  shal l  be undertaken.

 

Cash and cash equivalents

 

Cash and cash equivalents  in the Statement of Financial  Pos ition comprise cash at bank and in hand.

 

Other receivables

 



O ther receivables  are carried at amor�sed cost less  provis ion made for impairment of these receivables . A provis ion

for impairment of receivables  is  establ ished when there is  an expected credit loss  on amounts  due according to the

original  terms of the receivables . The amount of the provis ion is  the difference between the assets ' carrying amount

and the recoverable amount. Provis ions  for impairment of receivables  are included in profi t or loss .

 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale

 
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through continued use. They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount
and fair value less costs of disposal. For non-current assets to be classified as held for sale, they must be
available for immediate sale in their present condi�on and their sale must be highly probable.  Non-current
assets are not depreciated or amor�sed while they are classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses
aIributable to the liabili�es of assets held for sale con�nue to be recognised.  Non-current assets classified
as held for sale are presented separately on the face of the statement of financial position, in current assets.
 

Trade and other payables

 

Trade payables  and other payables  represent l iabi l i�es  for goods and services  provided to the Group prior to the end

of the financial  year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obl iged to make future payments  in respect

of the purchase of these goods and services . These amounts  are carried at amor�sed cost. The amounts  are

unsecured and are usual ly paid within 30 days  of recognition.

 

Provisions

 

A provis ion is  recognised when a present obl iga�on (legal  or construc�ve) has  arisen as  a  result of a  past event and

it i s  probable that a  future ouUlow of resources  wi l l  be required to seIle the obl iga�on, provided that a  rel iable

estimate can be made of the amount of the obl igation.

 

W hen the effect of discoun�ng is  materia l , the amount recognised for a  provis ion is  the present value at the end of

the repor�ng period of the future expenditures  expected to be required to seIle the obl iga�on. The increase in the

discounted present value amount aris ing from the passage of time is  included in profi t or loss .

 

Share capital

 

O rdinary shares  are class ified as  equity. I ncremental  costs  directly aIributable to the issue of new shares  are shown

in equity as  a  deduction from the proceeds.

 

Equity settled transactions (Share based payments)

 

The Group has  issued shares  as  cons idera�on for services  received. Equity seIled share-based payments  are

measured at fa i r value at the date of i ssue.

 

The Group has  a lso granted equity seIled op�ons and warrants .  The cost of equity seIled transac�ons is  measured

by reference to the fa ir value at the date on which they were granted and is  recognised over the ves�ng period, which

ends on the date the recipient becomes ful ly en�tled to the award.  Fair value is  determined by us ing the Black-

Scholes  option pricing model .

 

I n valuing equity seIled transac�ons, account is  taken of service and performance condi�ons (ves�ng condi�ons), in

addi�on to performance condi�ons l inked to the price of the shares  of the Company (market condi�ons). No expense

is  recognised for awards  that do not ul timately vest.

 

At each repor�ng date before ves�ng, the cumula�ve expense is  calculated; represen�ng the extent to which the

ves�ng period has  expired and management's  best es�mate of the number of equity instruments  that wi l l  ul�mately

vest. The movement in the cumula�ve expense s ince the previous  repor�ng date is  recognised in profit and loss , with

a corresponding entry in equity, or for op�ons awarded to execu�ve directors , the award is  cons idered as  part of

their remuneration and the overal l  cost i s  a l located between operating costs  and exploration and evaluation cost.

 

W here the terms of the equity-seIled award are modified, or a  new award is  des ignated as  replacing a  cancel led or

seIled award, the cost based on the original  award terms con�nues to be recognised over the original  ves�ng period.

I n addi�on, an expense is  recognised over the remainder of the new ves�ng period for the incremental  fa i r value of



I n addi�on, an expense is  recognised over the remainder of the new ves�ng period for the incremental  fa i r value of

any modifica�on, based on the difference between the fa ir value of the original  award and the fa ir value of the

modified award, both as  measured on the date of the modifica�on. No reduc�on is  recognised i f the difference is

negative.

 

W here an equity-based award is  cancel led (including when a non-ves�ng condi�on within the control  of the en�ty or

employee is  not met), i t i s  treated as  i f i t had vested on the date of the cancel la�on, and the cost not yet recognised in

profit and loss  for the award is  expensed immediately. Any compensa�on paid up to the fa ir value of the award at the

cancel lation or settlement date is  deducted from equity, with any excess  over fa i r value being treated as  an expense.

 

Segmental reporting

 

O pera�ng segments  are reported in a  manner cons istent with the internal  repor�ng provided to the Board of

Directors , which has  been iden�fied as  the Chief O pera�ng Decis ion Maker. The Board of Directors  i s  responsible for

al loca�ng resources  and assess ing performance of the opera�ng segments  in l ine with the strategic direc�on of the

Company.

 

Critical accounting judgements and estimates

 

The prepara�on of these consol idated financial  s tatements  in accordance with UK-adopted I nterna�onal  Accoun�ng

Standards  ("I F RS") requires  the use of accoun�ng es�mates  and assump�ons that affect the reported amounts  of

assets  and l iabi l i�es  at the date of the consol idated financial  s tatements  and the reported amounts  of income and

expenses  during the repor�ng period. Although these es�mates  are based on management's  best knowledge of current

events  and ac�ons, actual  results  ul�mately may differ from those es�mates.  I F RS also require management to

exercise i ts  judgement in the process  of applying the Group's  accounting pol icies .

 

The es�mates  and assump�ons that have a s ignificant risk of caus ing a  materia l  adjustment to the carrying amounts

of the assets  and l iabi l i ties  within the next financial  year are addressed below.

 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure

 

I n accordance with the Group's  accoun�ng pol icy for explora�on and evalua�on expenditure, aVer obtaining

l icences  giving legal  rights  to explore in the project area, a l l  explora�on and evalua�on costs  for each project are

capital ised as  exploration and evaluation assets .

 

The explora�on and evalua�on assets  for each project are assessed for impairment when such facts  and

circumstances  suggest that the carrying value of the assets  may exceed the recoverable amount.

 

The directors  have assessed the Group's  gold projects  in Mal i  and Côte d'I voire that are not part of the joint venture

agreements  and determined that they remain prospec�ve. Accordingly, the directors  have determined to con�nue to

maintain these l icences  and explore ways  for the Group to advance these prospec�ve areas  most effec�vely.

Accordingly, no impairment review has  been conducted on these assets .

 

The directors  have assessed the Group's  Bougouni  Li thium project in Mal i , taking into account the updated

P rel iminary Feas ibi l i ty Study and the agreement reached with Hainan in January 2023 for the funding of the project. 

This  project con�nues to be evaluated and there is  no indica�on of impairment.  Accordingly, no impairment review

has been conducted on these assets .

 

The Group's  explora�on ac�vi�es  and future development opportuni�es  are dependent upon maintaining the

necessary l icences  and permits  to operate, which typical ly require periodic renewal  or extens ion. I n Mal i  and Côte

d'I voire, the process  of renewal  or extens ion of a  l icence can only be ini�ated on expiry of the previous  term and

takes  �me to be processed by the relevant government authori ty. Un�l  formal  no�fica�on is  received there is  a  risk

that renewal  or extens ion wi l l  not be granted.

 

As  detai led in the O pera�onal  Review, at the date of these financial  s tatements , the Group's  key explora�on l icences

are current.  As  detai led in note 7, the total  carrying value of the explora�on and evalua�on assets  at 31 March 2023

was £14.5 mi l l ion (2022:  £11.4 mi l l ion). The Group compl ies  with the prevai l ing laws and regula�ons rela�ng to

these l icences  and ensures  that the regulatory repor�ng and government compl iance requirements  for each l icence

are met.

 



Valuation of warrants and share options

 

I n accordance with the Group's  accoun�ng pol icy for equity seIled transac�ons, a l l  equity seIled share-based

payments  are measured at fa i r value at the date of i ssue.  Fair value is  determined by us ing the Black-Scholes  op�on

pricing model  based on the terms of the op�ons and warrants , the Company's  share price at the �me and

assump�ons for vola�l i ty and exercise date.  The assump�ons used to value the op�ons and warrants  are detai led in

note 5.

 

For op�ons awarded to the non-execu�ve directors , the award has  been cons idered to be in rela�on to their overal l

contribu�on to the Group and, accordingly, the charge has  been included within opera�ng costs  in the Consol idated

Statement of Comprehensive I ncome.  For op�ons awarded to execu�ve directors , the award is  cons idered as  part of

their remunera�on.  This  overal l  cost i s  a l located between opera�ng costs  and explora�on and evalua�on cost, the

laIer of which are capital ised against specific projects .  For the award of warrants  associated with the rais ing of

funds through the issue of new shares , the charge has  been treated as  a  share issue expense and offset against the

share premium account.

 

Recoverability of Intercompany Balances to Subsidiary Undertakings

 

The Company has  outstanding intercompany balances  from i ts  directly held subs idiaries  resul�ng from the primary

method of financing the ac�vity of those subs idiaries . The balances  are shown in the Company Statement of F inancial

Pos i�on. However, there is  a  risk that the subs idiaries  wi l l  not commence sufficient revenue genera�ng ac�vi�es  and

that the carrying amount of the intercompany balances  wi l l , therefore, exceed the recoverable amount. Under the

requirements  of I F RS 9 management has  run various  scenarios  on the expected credit loss  of the Company's

intercompany balances, including the project being put into opera�on, the project being sold and the project

col laps ing. Management has  updated i ts  calcula�ons reflec�ng addi�onal  amounts  advanced to i ts  subs idiaries  for

work on i ts  l i thium and gold projects  during the year, the reduced the risk of credit loss  given improvements  s ince

last year in the financial , l i thium and gold markets  and the reduced risk of project col lapse fol lowing the gran�ng of

the mining l icence.  At 31 March 2023, amounts  due to the Company from subs idiary undertakings  total led

£14,296,000 (2022: £10,785,000), net of a  credit loss  provis ion of £501,000 (2022: £681,000).

 

Adoption of New and Revised Standards

 

The Group has  adopted al l  of the new or amended Accoun�ng Standards  and interpreta�ons issued by the

I nterna�onal  Accoun�ng Standards  Board ("I AS B") that are mandatory and relevant to the Group's  ac�vi�es  for the

current reporting period.

 

New standards and interpretations not applied

 

At the date of authorisa�on of these consol idated financial  s tatements , certain new standards, amendments  and

interpreta�ons to exis�ng standards  have been publ ished but are not yet effec�ve and have not been adopted early

by the Group. These are l i s ted below.  The Board an�cipates  that a l l  of the pronouncements  wi l l  be adopted in the

Group's  accoun�ng pol icies  for the first period beginning aVer the effec�ve date of the pronouncement. The

amendments  to the standards  noted below are not expected to have a materia l  impact on the Group's  consol idated

financial  s tatements .

 
Standard Details of amendment / New Standards and Interpretations Annual periods

beginning on or
after

 

IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial  Statements

 

Amendments  to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial  Statements  to speci fy
the requirements  for class i fying l iabi l i ties  as  current or non-current.

1 January 2024

 

 

IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial  Statements

Amendments  to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial  Statements  to speci fy
the requirements  for disclosure of accounting pol icies .

 

1 January 2023

There are other standards  and amendments  in issue but not yet effec�ve, which are not l ikely to be relevant to the

Group which have therefore not been l i s ted.

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 

1.            SEGMENTAL REPORTING



1.            SEGMENTAL REPORTING

 

The opera�ons and assets  of the Group in the year ended 31 March 2023 are focused in the United K ingdom and West

Africa and comprise one class  of bus iness: the explora�on and evalua�on of mineral  resources. Management have

determined that the Group had two opera�ng segments  being the West African Gold P rojects  and the West African

Lithium P rojects , and a UK  administra�on centre. The Parent Company acts  as  a  holding company. At 31 March 2023,

the Group had not commenced commercial  produc�on from i ts  explora�on s i tes  and therefore had no revenue for the

year.

 
Year ended 31 March 2023 UK West Africa  

West Africa
Total

  Gold Lithium  
 £ £ £ £
Admi ni s tra ti ve  e xpe ns e s 912,390 4,288 27,795 944,473
Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts 516,581 - - 516,581
Loss for the year 1,428,971 4,288 27,795 1,461,054

At 31 March 2023
Othe r re ce i va bl e s 11,175 - - 11,175
Ca s h a nd ca s h
e qui va l e nts

 
425,704

 
90,426

 
28,858

 
544,988

Non-curre nt a s s e ts
cl a s s i fi e d a s  he l d for
s a l e

 
-

 
-

 
513,109

 
513,109

Tra de  a nd othe r
pa ya bl e s

(129,332) - (670,675) (800,007)

Inta ngi bl e  a s s e ts  -
e xpl ora ti on a nd
e va l ua ti on e xpe ndi ture

 
 
-

 
 

3,305,948

 
 

11,215,940

 
 

14,521,888

Prope rty, pl a nt a nd
e qui pme nt

 
-

 
1,042

 
90,729

 
91,771

Net assets at 31 March
2023

 
307,547

 
3,397,416

 
11,177,961

 
14,882,924

 
 
Year ended 31 March 2022 UK West Africa

 
 
 

West Africa Total
  Gold Lithium  
 £ £ £ £
Admi ni s tra ti ve  e xpe ns e s 538,625 866 1,164 540,655
Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts 342,876 - - 342,876
Fi na nce  cha rge 19,556 - - 19,556
Loss for the year 901,057 866 1,164 903,087

At 31 March 2022
Othe r re ce i va bl e s 5,769 - - 5,769
Ca s h a nd ca s h
e qui va l e nts

949,850 38,481 57,184 1,045,515

Tra de  a nd othe r
pa ya bl e s (100,959) -

(305,382)
(406,341)

Inta ngi bl e  a s s e ts  -
e xpl ora ti on a nd
e va l ua ti on e xpe ndi ture - 2,410,787

 
 

9,031,616 11,442,403
Prope rty, pl a nt a nd
e qui pme nt - -

 
3,309 3,309

Net assets at 31 March
2022 854,660 2,449,268

 
8,786,727 12,090,655

 

 

2.            LOSS BEFORE TAX

 

                The loss  before tax from continuing activi ties  i s  s tated after charging:

 
Group

Year ended

31 March 2023

Group

Year ended

31 March 2022

£ £

Fe e s  pa ya bl e  to the  Compa ny's  a udi tor 53,000 40,000

Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts  (note  5) 516,581   342,876

Di re ctors ' s a l a ri e s  a nd fe e s 182,247   167,980

Empl oye r's  Na ti ona l  Ins ura nce 10,598   5,980

 

Amounts  payable to RSM UK Audit LLP and i ts  associates  in respect of audit services  are as  fol lows;

 

Group

Year ended

31 March 2023

 Group

Year ended

31 March 2022



31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£  £

Audi t s e rvi ce s  

- s ta tutory a udi t of pa re nt a nd cons ol i da te d a ccounts  53,000 40,000

 

 

3.            EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

 

The average number of people employed in the Group is  as  fol lows:

 
Group

31 March 2023

Group

31 March 2022

Number Number

Ave ra ge  numbe r of
e mpl oye e s  (i ncl udi ng
di re ctors ):

45 19

 

The directors  are key management personnel  of the Company.  The remunera�on expense for directors  of the Company is
as  fol lows:

 

Year ended

31 March 2023

Year ended

31 March 2022

£  £

Di re ctors ' re mune ra ti on 182,247 167,980

Di re ctors ' s oci a l  s e curi ty cos ts 10,598 5,980

 

Tota l

 

192,845

 

173,960

 

I n addi�on to the amounts  included above, £282,267 (2022: £79,469) of the directors ' remunera�on cost has  been treated
as  Explora�on and Evalua�on expenditure.  100% of the salary cost of the Group's  employees  in West Africa has  been
treated as  Exploration and Evaluation expenditure (2022:  100%).

 
  Directors'

salary and
fees year

ended

31 March
2023

 Share based
payments

year ended

 31 March

 2023 (see
note 5)

  

Total

year ended

31 March

2023

  £  £  £

Be rna rd Ayl wa rd (a ) 177,847 180,724 358,571

Cha rl e s  Jos e l a nd 50,000 78,153 128,153

Robe rt Wool dri dge 45,000 119,366 164,366

Ste ve n Za ni novi ch (b) 166,667 159,291 325,958

Qi ngta o Ze ng (c) 25,000

 

139,680 164,680

464,514 677,214 1,141,728

 
I ncluded within the amounts  shown above for share based payments , £191,771 has  been treated as
Explora�on and Evalua�on expenditure.  Four Directors  exercised share op�ons in the period, with
respec�ve gains  on exercise as  fol lows:  Bernard Aylward £3,860; Charles  Joseland £20,044; Robert
Wooldridge £10,509; and Steven Zaninovich £4,632.

 

 
  Directors'

salary and
fees year

ended

31 March
2022

 Share based
payments

year ended

 31 March

 2022 (see
note 5)

  

Total

year ended

31 March

2022

  £  £  £

Be rna rd Ayl wa rd (a ) 132,449 222,793 355,242

Cha rl e s  Jos e l a nd 45,000 1,164 46,164

Robe rt Wool dri dge 45,000 44,798 89,798

Qi ngta o Ze ng (c) 25,000

 

2,549 27,549



 

247,449 271,304 518,753

 

 

a)    Matlock Geological  Services  P ty Ltd ("Matlock") a  company whol ly owned by Bernard Aylward, provided

consultancy services  to the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023 and received fees  of £139,514

(2022: £97,450).  These fees  are included within the remuneration figure shown for Bernard Aylward.

 

b)    Zivvo P ty Ltd ("Zivvo") a  company whol ly owned by Steven Zaninovich, provided consultancy services  to the

Group during the year ended 31 March 2023 and received fees  of £140,000 in the period aVer his

appointment as  director on 27 July 2022.  These fees  are included within the remunera�on figure shown for

Steven Zaninovich.  Steven Zaninovich was appointed to the board on 27 July 2022.

 

c)    I n addi�on to the amounts  included above, Geosmart Consul�ng P ty Ltd, a  company whol ly owned by

Q ingtao Zeng, provided consultancy services  to the Group during the year and received fees  of £24,627

(2022: £27,136).

 

4.            LOSS PER SHARE

 

Bas ic loss  per share is  calculated by dividing the loss  for the year aIributable to ordinary equity holders  of the

parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares  outstanding during the year.

 

The fol lowing reflects  the result and share data used in the computations:

 
 Loss  Weighted average

number of shares
 Basic loss per

share (pence)

£

Ye a r e nde d 31 Ma rch 2023 1,461,054 16,812,417,355 0.0087

Ye a r e nde d 31 Ma rch 2022 903,087 15,809,383,877 0.0057

 

D i luted loss  per share is  calculated by dividing the loss  aIributable to ordinary equity holders  of the parent by the

weighted average number of ordinary shares  outstanding during the year plus  the weighted average number of

ordinary shares  that would be issued on convers ion of a l l  the di lu�ve poten�al  ordinary shares  into ordinary

shares.  O p�ons in issue are not cons idered di lu�ng to the loss  per share as  the Group is  currently loss  making.  

Di luted loss  per share is  therefore the same as  the bas ic loss  per share.

 

5.            SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

 

The share-based payment reserve is  used to recognise the value of equity-seIled share-based payments  provided to

employees, including key management personnel , as  part of their remuneration.

 
Year ended

31 March 2023

 Year ended

31 March 2022

Share options outstanding Number  Number

Ope ni ng ba l a nce 250,000,000 205,000,000

La ps e d i n the  ye a r (77,500,000) -

Is s ue d i n the  ye a r 470,000,000 45,000,000

Exe rci s e d i n the  ye a r (60,000,000) -

 

Cl os i ng ba l a nce

 

582,500,000

 

250,000,000

 

 
Year ended

31 March 2023

 Year ended

31 March 2022

Performance share rights
outstanding

Number  Number

Ope ni ng ba l a nce 175,000,000 -

Is s ue d i n the  ye a r 75,000,000 175,000,000

Exe rci s e d i n the  ye a r (10,000,000) -

 

Cl os i ng ba l a nce

 

240,000,000

 

175,000,000



Cl os i ng ba l a nce 240,000,000 175,000,000

 
Year ended

31 March 2023

 Year ended

31 March 2022

Warrants outstanding Number  Number

Ope ni ng ba l a nce 205,000,000 285,355,663

La ps e d i n the  ye a r (12,500,000) -

Is s ue d i n the  ye a r 170,000,000 -

Exe rci s e d i n the  ye a r (36,250,000) (80,355,663)

 

Cl os i ng ba l a nce

 

326,250,000

 

205,000,000

 
Options, warrants  and performance share rights  outstanding for each of the directors  at the year-end are outl ined below:

 

Exercisable date Bernard
Aylward

Robert
Wooldridge

Qingtao Zeng Charles Joseland Steven
Zaninovich

      

8 Ma y 2019 -

8 Ma y 2024

- 6,250,000 - - -

20 Nov 2018 -

20 Nov 2023

- - 2,500,000 - -

20 Nov 2019 -

20 Nov 2024

- - 2,500,000 - -

1 Ma r 2019 -

1 Ma r 2024

- - - - 26,666,666

6 Nove mbe r 2021

 

- - - - 33,333,334

To be  de te rmi ne d
(Note  2)

- - - - 90,000,000

6 Nove mbe r 2021

 

30,000,000 - - - -

To be  de te rmi ne d
(Note  1)

40,000,000 - - - -

To be  de te rmi ne d
(Note  2)

75,000,000 - - - -

27 Aug 2021 -

27 Aug 2026

- 15,000,000 7,500,000 - -

27 Aug 2022 -

27 Aug 2027

- 7,500,000 3,750,000 - -

27 Aug 2023 -

27 Aug 2028

- 7,500,000 3,750,000 - -

To be  de te rmi ne d
(Note  1)

30,000,000 - - - 72,500,000

To be  de te rmi ne d
(Note  2)

40,000,000 - - - 77,500,000

To be  de te rmi ne d
(Note  3)

60,000,000 - - - 95,000,000

18 Aug 2022 -

18 Aug 2027

- 23,333,334 43,333,334 25,000,000 -

18 Aug 2023 -

18 Aug 2028

- 33,333,333 43,333,333 25,000,000 -

18 Aug 2024 -

18 Aug 2029

- 33,333,333 43,333,333 25,000,000 -

 

Cl os i ng ba l a nce 275,000,000 126,250,000 150,000,000 75,000,000 395,000,000

 

1.     Exe rci s a bl e  from da te  of s e curi ng the  fi na nce  for cons tructi on of the  Bougouni  mi ne

2.     Exe rci s a bl e  from da te  of fi rs t comme rci a l  producti on from the  Bougouni  Proje ct

3.     Exe rci s a bl e  from da te  of producti on of 175,000 tonne s  of s podume ne  conce ntra te  from the  Bougouni  proje ct
 

I ncluded within opera�ng losses  is  a  charge for i ssuing share op�ons and making share-based payments  of £684,932
(2022: £342,876). 

 



 

Details of share options outstanding at 31 March 2023:

Date of grant                         Number of options               Option price                          Exercisable between

20 December 2013              13,333,333                           0.7 pence                              30 Dec 2014 - 30 Dec 2024

20 December 2013              13,333,333                           0.7 pence                              30 Dec 2015 - 30 Dec 2025

20 December 2013              13,333,333                           0.7 pence                              30 Dec 2016 - 30 Dec 2026

8 May 2017                           12,500,000                           0.38 pence                            8 May 2018 - 8 May 2023

8 May 2017                           20,000,000                           0.38 pence                            8 May 2019 - 8 May 2024

20 November 2017              2,500,000                              0.38 pence                            20 Nov 2018 - 20 Nov 2023

20 November 2017              2,500,000                              0.38 pence                            20 Nov 2019 - 20 Nov 2024

27 August 2021                    22,500,000                           0.36 pence                            27 Aug 2021 - 27 Aug 2026

27 August 2021                    11,250,000                           0.36 pence                            27 Aug 2022 - 27 Aug 2027

27 August 2021                    11,250,000                           0.36 pence                            27 Aug 2023 - 27 Aug 2028

18 August 2022                    37,500,000                           0.3 pence                              To be determined

18 August 2022                    47,500,000                           0.34 pence                            To be determined

18 August 2022                    70,000,000                           0.38 pence                            To be determined

18 August 2022                    95,000,002                           0.3 pence                              18  Aug 2022 - 18 Aug 2027

18 August 2022                    104,999,999                         0.34 pence                            18  Aug 2023 - 18 Aug 2028

18 August 2022                    104,999,999                         0.34 pence                            18  Aug 2024 - 18 Aug 2029

 

Details of performance share rights outstanding at 31 March 2023:

Date of grant                           Number of performance        Option price                            Exercisable between

                                                 share rights

27 Augus t 2021                       30,000,000                              ni l                                             6 Nove mbe r 2021

27 Augus t 2021                       50,000,000                              ni l                                             To be  de te rmi ne d

27 Augus t 2021                       85,000,000                              ni l                                             To be  de te rmi ne d

27 Jul y 2022                             25,000,000                              ni l                                             To be  de te rmi ne d

27 Jul y 2022                             25,000,000                              ni l                                             To be  de te rmi ne d

27 Jul y 2022                             25,000,000                              ni l                                             To be  de te rmi ne d

 

Details of warrants outstanding at 31 March 2023:

Date of grant                           Number of warrants               Option price                            Exercisable between

22 Ma y 2017                            6,250,000                                0.38 pe nce                               22 Ma y 2019 - 22 Ma y 2024

23 Nove mbe r 2018                  26,666,666                              0.14-0.38 pe nce                       1 Ma rch 2019 - 1 Ma rch 2024

23 Nove mbe r 2018                  33,333,334                              0.14-0.38 pe nce                       To be  de te rmi ne d

23 Nove mbe r 2018                  90,000,000                              0.14-0.38 pe nce                       To be  de te rmi ne d

27 Jul y 2022                             47,500,000                              0.28 pe nce                               To be  de te rmi ne d

27 Jul y 2022                             52,500,000                              0.325 pe nce                             To be  de te rmi ne d

27 Jul y 2022                             70,000,000                              0.38 pe nce                               To be  de te rmi ne d

 

Additional  disclosure information:

Weighted average exercise price of share options  and warrants :

·    outstanding at the beginning of the period                                           0.35 pence
·    granted during the period                                                                            0.30 pence
·    outstanding at the end of the period                                                       0.27 pence
·    exercisable at the end of the period                                                        0.35 pence

 

Weighted average remaining contractual  l i fe of

share options  outstanding at the end of the period                                          5.7 years

 

Warrants, Options and Performance Share Rights issued in the year to 31 March 2023

O n 27 July 2022, the Company granted warrants  over 170,000,000 ordinary shares  and Performance Share Rights  of up to
75,000,000 ordinary shares  to Steven Zaninovich.  The warrants  are registered in the name of Zivvo P ty Ltd, a  company
whol ly owned by Steven Zaninovich.

The Warrants  and Performance Share Rights  carry ves�ng condi�ons that are l inked to achievement of mi lestones  cri�cal
to the development of the Bougouni  Project as  fol lows:

·          Securing of finance for the Bougouni  mine and comple�on of a l l  Mal i  Government Agreements ,
Update and Varia�on of Mining Licence and Environment permi_ng in rela�on to the Bougouni
Project;

·          Receipt of funds  from first sale of spodumene concentrate from the Bougouni  P roject within 18
months  of receipt of finance; and

·          175,000 tonnes  of spodumene concentrate produced from the Bougouni  Project.
 



 

Subject to the ves�ng condi�ons being sa�sfied, Mr Zaninovich may cal l  for O rdinary Shares , as  set out in the table below,
to be issued to him at any �me within five years  of the ves�ng condi�on being met and upon payment by them of the
nominal  value for the O rdinary Shares  in rela�on the Performance Share Rights  and the exercise price in rela�on to the
share options.

Vesting criteria Warrants Performance Share Rights

 

 

Exercise Price Number

Se curi ng of fi na nce  for the  Bougouni  mi ne £0.00280p 47,500,000 25,000,000  ca ppe d
a t £250,000 va l ue

 

Re ce i pt of funds  from fi rs t s a l e  of
s podume ne  conce ntra te  from Bougouni
wi thi n 18 months  of re ce i pt of fi na nce

 

£0.00325p 52,500,000 25,000,000  ca ppe d
a t £250,000 va l ue

Producti on of 175,000 tonne s  of s podume ne
conce ntra te  from Bougouni

 

£0.00380p 70,000,000 25,000,000  ca ppe d
a t £250,000 va l ue

Tota l £0.00335p a ve ra ge 170,000,000 75,000,000 tota l  ca ppe d
a t £750,000 va l ue

 

O n 18 August 2022, the Company granted op�ons over 155,000,000 ordinary shares  to Bernard Aylward
and Mohamed Niare (Country Manager, Mal i ).

 

The Share O p�ons carry ves�ng condi�ons that are l inked to achievement of mi lestones  cri�cal  to the development of the
Bougouni  Project as  fol lows:

·          Securing of finance for the Bougouni  mine and comple�on of a l l  Mal i  Government Agreements ,
Update and Varia�on of Mining Licence and Environment permi_ng in rela�on to the Bougouni
Project;

·          Receipt of funds  from first sale of spodumene concentrate from the Bougouni  P roject within 18
months  of receipt of finance; and

·          175,000 tonnes  of spodumene concentrate produced from the Bougouni  Project.
 

Subject to the ves�ng condi�ons being sa�sfied, the holders  of the Share O p�ons may cal l  for O rdinary Shares , as  set out
in the table below, to be issued to them at any time within five years  of the vesting condition being met. 

 

Exercise price
Share Options

Vesting criteria

 

 Bernard Aylward

 

Mohamed Niare

 

Se curi ng of fi na nce  for
the  Bougouni  mi ne

0.3 pe nce Up to 30 mi l l i on ordi na ry
s ha re s

Up to 7.5 mi l l i on ordi na ry
s ha re s

Re ce i pt of funds  from
fi rs t s a l e  of
s podume ne
conce ntra te

0.34 pe nce Up to 40 mi l l i on ordi na ry
s ha re s

 

Up to 7.5 mi l l i on ordi na ry
s ha re s

 

175,000 tonne s  of
s podume ne
conce ntra te  produce d

0.38 pe nce Up to 60 mi l l i on ordi na ry
s ha re s

 

Up to 10 mi l l i on ordi na ry s ha re s

 

Tota l Up to 130 mi l l i on ordi na ry
s ha re s

Up to 25 mi l l i on ordi na ry s ha re s

 

O n 18 August 2022, the Company granted op�ons over 315,000,000 O rdinary Shares  to members  of the management team,
of which those granted to Non-Executive Directors  were as  set out in the table below. The options  wi l l  vest in equal  tranches
with the first one third ves�ng immediately and exercisable at 0.3 pence per share, and the remaining two thirds  ves�ng in
two equal  tranches  on the fi rst and second anniversaries  of the grant and exercisable at 0.34 pence per share.

 

Director Number of Options
granted

Cha rl e s  Jos e l a nd 75,000,000

Robe rt Wool dri dge 100,000,000

Qi ngta o Ze ng 130,000,000

 

The fa ir values  of the op�ons and warrants  granted were calculated us ing the Black-Scholes  valua�on model .  The inputs
to the model  were:

 

27 July 2022 18 August 2022
  

Stri ke  pri ce 0.00p - 0.38p 0.30p - 0.38p
Sha re  pri ce 0.11p - 0.25p 0.11p - 0.26p 
Vol a ti l i ty 75% 75%
Expi ry da te 15/3/28 - 15/12/30 15/3/28 - 15/12/30
Ri s k fre e  ra te 0.24% - 0.26% 0.23% - 0.30%



Ri s k fre e  ra te 0.24% - 0.26% 0.23% - 0.30%
Di vi de nd yi e l d 0.0% 0.0%

 

Options and Performance Share Rights issued in the year to 31 March 2022

O n 27 August 2021, the Company granted Performance Share Rights  of up to 175,000,000 ordinary shares  to Bernard
Aylward and Mohamed Niare (Country Manager, Mal i ).

The Performance Share Rights  carry ves�ng condi�ons that are l inked to achievement of mi lestones  cri�cal  to the
development of the Bougouni  Project as  fol lows:

·           Award of mining l icence;
·           Securing the finance for construction of the Bougouni  mine; and
·           Fi rst commercial  production from the Bougouni  Project.

 

Subject to the ves�ng condi�ons being sa�sfied, the holders  of the Performance Share Rights  may cal l  for O rdinary Shares ,
as  set out in the table below, to be issued to them at any �me within five years  of the ves�ng condi�on being met and upon
payment by them of the nominal  value for the Ordinary Shares.

 

Performance Share Rights over New Ordinary Shares

Vesting criteria

 

Bernard Aylward

 

Mohamed Niare

 

Awa rd of mi ni ng l i ce nce Up to 30 mi l l i on Ne w
Ordi na ry Sha re s  (ca ppe d a t
va l ue  on ve s ti ng of £300,000)

Up to 10 mi l l i on Ne w
Ordi na ry Sha re s  (ca ppe d a t
va l ue  on ve s ti ng of
£100,000)

Se curi ng the  fi na nce  for
cons tructi on of the  Bougouni
mi ne

Up to 40 mi l l i on Ne w
Ordi na ry Sha re s  (ca ppe d a t
va l ue  on ve s ti ng of £400,000)

Up to 10 mi l l i on Ne w
Ordi na ry Sha re s  (ca ppe d a t
va l ue  on ve s ti ng of
£100,000)

Fi rs t comme rci a l  producti on
from the  Bougouni  Proje ct

Up to 75 mi l l i on Ne w
Ordi na ry Sha re s  (ca ppe d a t
va l ue  on ve s ti ng of £750,000)

Up to 10 mi l l i on Ne w
Ordi na ry Sha re s  (ca ppe d a t
va l ue  on ve s ti ng of
£100,000)

Tota l Up to 145 mi l l i on Ne w
Ordi na ry Sha re s  (ca ppe d a t
va l ue  on ve s ti ng of £1.45m)

Up to 30 mi l l i on Ne w
Ordi na ry Sha re s  (ca ppe d a t
va l ue  on ve s ti ng of
£300,000)

 
I n the event of a  change of control  of the Company, 50 per cent. of any unvested Performance Share Rights  wi l l  vest
immediately, provided that the Company's  share price at the �me of the change of control  exceeds 0.34 pence, being the
share price when the awards  were made.

O n 27 August 2021, op�ons over O rdinary Shares  were granted to Robert Wooldridge and Q ingtao Zeng as  set out in the
table below. The O p�ons are exercisable at 0.36 pence per share, with 50 per cent of the O p�ons ves�ng immediately and
the remaining 50 per cent. ves�ng in two equal  tranches  on the first and second anniversaries  of the grant. Al l  unvested
options  wi l l  vest immediately on a change of control  of the Company.

 

Director Number of Options
granted

Robe rt Wool dri dge 30,000,000

Qi ngta o Ze ng 15,000,000

 

 

 

6.            TAXATION

 
 Group

Year ended

31 March 2023

 Group

Year ended

31 March 2022

 £  £

Ta xa ti on cha rge  for the  ye a r  -  -

   

Factors affecting the tax charge for the year  

Los s  from conti nui ng ope ra ti ons  be fore  i ncome  ta x (1,461,054) (903,087)

 

Ta x a t 19% (2022: 19%) (277,600) (171,587)

 

Expe ns e s  not de ducti bl e 636 -

Los s e s  ca rri e d forwa rd not de ducti bl e 178,814 106,440

De fe rre d ta x di ffe re nce s 98,150 65,147



De fe rre d ta x di ffe re nce s 98,150 65,147

 

Income tax expense

 

-

  

-

 

 

The Group has  tax losses  and other poten�al  deferred tax assets  (including in rela�on to share op�ons) total l ing

£3,759,000 (2022: £2,978,000) which wi l l  be able to be offset against future income. No deferred tax asset has  been

recognised in respect of these losses  as  the timing of their uti l i sation is  uncertain at this  stage.

 

7.            INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 
Exploration and

evaluation

GROUP   £  

COST

At 1 April 2021 8,964,089  

Addi ti ons  i n the  ye a r 2,546,686

Effe cts  of fore i gn e xcha nge (68,372)

 

At 1 April 2022 11,442,403  

Addi ti ons  i n the  ye a r 3,226,956

Cl a s s i fi e d a s  he l d for s a l e (513,109)

Effe cts  of fore i gn e xcha nge 365,638

At 31 March 2023  14,521,888  

AMORTISATION

At 1 April 2021 and 1 April 2022 and
31 March 2023 -  

NET BOOK VALUES

At 31 March 2023  14,521,888  

 

At 31 Ma rch 2022 11,442,403

At 31 Ma rch 2021 8,964,089

 
 

Group Group

31 March
2023

31 Ma rch
2022

£ £

Non-curre nt a s s e ts  cl a s s i fie d a s
he l d for s a l e

513,109 -

513,109 -

O n 19 Apri l  2023, the Company announced the sale of the Bougouni  West project, further detai ls  on which are disclosed in
Note 18.  The Bougouni  West project was  held as  an asset for sale at 31 March 2023.

8.            PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 

Plant and machinery  

GROUP   £   

COST  



COST  

1 April 2021  26,079  

Addi ti ons  i n the  ye a r  1,600  

Effe cts  of fore i gn e xcha nge  (47)  

    

At 1 April 2022  27,633   

Addi ti ons  i n the  ye a r 103,633

Effe cts  of fore i gn e xcha nge 137

At 31 March 2023  131,403  

 

DEPRECIATION  

At 1 April 2021  17,402   

De pre ci a ti on cha rge 6,922  

  

At 1 April 2022  24,324   

De pre ci a ti on cha rge 15,308  

  

At 31 March 2023  39,632   

  

NET BOOK VALUES  

At 31 March 2023  91,771   

  

At 31 Ma rch 2022 3,309  

 

At 31 Ma rch 2021 8,677  

 
Al l  tangible assets  are whol ly associated with exploration and development projects  and therefore the
amounts  charged in respect of depreciation are capital ised as  evaluation and exploration assets  within
intangible assets . 

 

9.            SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

 

 

The consol idated financial  s tatements  include the fol lowing subs idiary companies:

 
 

Compa ny

 

Subs i di a ry of

Country of

i ncorpora ti on

Re gi s te re d offi ce Equi ty
hol di ng

Na ture  of

bus i ne s s

Koda l  Norwa y (UK)
Ltd

Koda l
Mi ne ra l s  Pl c

Uni te d
Ki ngdom

Pri nce  Fre de ri ck Hous e ,

35-39 Ma ddox Stre e t,
London W1S 2PP

100% Ope ra ti ng
compa ny

Inte rna ti ona l
Gol dfi e l ds
(Be rmuda )
Li mi te d

Koda l
Mi ne ra l s  Pl c

Be rmuda MQ Se rvi ce s  Ltd

Vi ctori a  Pl a ce ,

31 Vi ctori a  Stre e t,

Ha mi l ton HM 10

Be rmuda

100% Hol di ng
compa ny

Inte rna ti ona l
Gol dfie l ds  Côte
d'Ivoi re  SARL

Inte rna ti ona l
Gol dfi e l ds
(Be rmuda )

Li mi te d

Côte  d'Ivoi re Abi dja n Cocody Le s  De ux
Pl a te a ux 7e me  Tra nche

BP    Abi dja n

Côte  d'Ivoi re

100% Mi ni ng
e xpl ora ti on

Inte rna ti ona l
Gol dfie l ds  Ma l i
SARL

Inte rna ti ona l
Gol dfi e l ds
(Be rmuda )

Li mi te d

Ma l i Ba ma ko, Fa l a di , Ma l i
Uni ve rs , Rue  886 B, Porte

487

Ma l i

100% Mi ni ng
e xpl ora ti on

Ji gs a w Re s ource s
CIV Ltd

Inte rna ti ona l
Gol dfi e l ds
(Be rmuda )

Li mi te d

Be rmuda MQ Se rvi ce s  Ltd

Vi ctori a  Pl a ce ,

31 Vi ctori a  Stre e t,

Ha mi l ton HM 10

Be rmuda

100% Hol di ng
compa ny

Corve tte  CIV SARL Ji gs a w
Re s ource s

CIV Ltd

Côte  d'Ivoi re Abi dja n Cocody Le s  De ux
Pl a te a ux 7e me  Tra nche

100% Mi ni ng
e xpl ora ti on



CIV Ltd
BP    Abi dja n

Côte  d'Ivoi re

Future  Mi ne ra l s
SARL

Inte rna ti ona l
Gol dfi e l ds
(Be rmuda )

Li mi te d

Ma l i Ba ma ko, Fa l a di , Ma l i
Uni ve rs , Rue  886 B, Porte

487

Ma l i

100% Mi ni ng
e xpl ora ti on

Koda l  Mi ni ng UK
Li mi te d

Koda l
Mi ne ra l s  Pl c

Uni te d
Ki ngdon

Pri nce  Fre de ri ck Hous e ,

35-39 Ma ddox Stre e t,
London W1S 2PP

100% Mi ni ng
e xpl ora ti on

 

 

10.          OTHER RECEIVABLES

 
Group

31 March 2023

Group

31 Ma rch 2022

£ £

Othe r re ce i va bl e s 11,175 5,769

 
 

 

11,175

 

5,769

   

 

 

Al l  receivables  at each repor�ng date are current. No receivables  are past due.  The Directors  cons ider that the

carrying amount of the other receivables  approximates  their fa i r value and there are no expected credit losses .

 

11.          TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 
Group

31 March 2023

Group

31 Ma rch 2022

£ £

Tra de  pa ya bl e s 616,877 348,505

Othe r pa ya bl e s 183,130 57,836

 
 

 

800,007

 

406,341

   

 

 

Al l  trade and other payables  at each repor�ng date are current.  The Directors  cons ider that the carrying amount of

the trade and other payables  approximates  their fa i r value.

 

12.          SHARE CAPITAL

 
 Note Nominal

Value
Number of

Ordinary Shares
Share Capital

£

Share
Premium

£

      

 

At 31 March 2021

   

15,732,363,511

 

4,916,364

 

15,841,134

 

Ma y 2021 a £0.0003125 48,790,008 15,247 14,515

Ma y 2021 b £0.0003125 31,565,656 9,864 18,545

Nove mbe r 2021 c £0.0003125 19,583,212 6,120 58,877
 

At 31 March 2022

   

15,832,302,387

 

4,947,595

 

15,933,071

      

Ma y 2022 d £0.0003125 1,071,428,569 334,821 2,522,964

Ma rch 2023 e £0.0003125 106,250,000 33,203 309,171
 

At 31 March 2023

   

17,009,980,956

 

5,315,619

 

18,765,206

 

a)    O n 18 May 2021, a  total  of 48,790,008 shares  were issued to the I nvestors  at a  price of 0.061 pence per



a)    O n 18 May 2021, a  total  of 48,790,008 shares  were issued to the I nvestors  at a  price of 0.061 pence per

share in connection with the exercise of warrants .

b)    O n 18 May 2021, a  total  of 31,565,656 shares  were issued to the I nvestors  at a  price of 0.09 pence per share

in connection with the exercise of warrants .

c)    O n 5 November 2021, a  total  of 19,583,212 shares  were issued pursuant to the Company's  agreement with

Bambara Resources  SARL at 0.3319p per share.

d)    O n 10 May 2022, a  total  of 1,071,428,569 shares  were issued via  a  placing and subscrip�on  at a  price of

0.28 pence per share.

e)    O n 20 March 2023, a  total  of 106,250,000 shares  were issued pursuant to the exercise of op�ons, warrants

and Performance Share Rights  from certain directors , senior management and consultants  of the Company. 

The shares  were issued at between 0.14 and 0.38 pence per share.

 

13.          RESERVES

 
Reserve Description and purpose

Sha re  pre mi um Amount s ubs cri be d for s ha re  ca pi ta l  i n e xce s s  of nomi na l  va l ue .

Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nt
re s e rve

Cumul a ti ve  fa i r va l ue  of opti ons  a nd s ha re  ri ghts  re cogni s e d a s  a n e xpe ns e .
Upon e xe rci s e  of opti ons  or s ha re  ri ghts , a ny proce e ds  re ce i ve d a re  cre di te d to
s ha re  ca pi ta l . The  s ha re -ba s e d pa yme nt re s e rve  re ma i ns  a s  a  s e pa ra te
compone nt of e qui ty.

Tra ns l a ti on re s e rve Ga i ns /l os s e s  a ri s i ng on re -tra ns l a ti ng the  ne t a s s e ts  of ove rs e a s  ope ra ti ons
i nto s te rl i ng.

Re ta i ne d e a rni ngs Cumul a ti ve  ne t ga i ns  a nd l os s e s  re cogni s e d i n the  cons ol i da te d s ta te me nt of
fi na nci a l  pos i ti on.

 

14.          FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

 

The Group's  principal  financial  instruments  comprise cash and cash equivalents , other receivables  and trade and

other payables .

 

The main purpose of cash and cash equivalents  i s  to finance the Group's  opera�ons.  The Group's  other financial

assets  and l iabi l i ties  such as  other receivables  and trade and other payables , arise directly from i ts  operations.

 

I t has  been the Group's  pol icy, throughout the periods  presented in the consol idated financial  s tatements , that no

trading in financial  instruments  was  to be undertaken, and no such instruments  were entered in to.

 

The main risk aris ing from the Group's  financial  instruments  is  market risk. The Directors  cons ider other risks  to be

more minor, and these are summarised below. The Board reviews and agrees  pol icies  for managing each of these

risks .

 

Market risk

Market risk i s  the risk that changes  in market prices , and market factors  such as  foreign exchange rates  and interest

rates  wi l l  affect the Group's  results  or the value of i ts  assets  and l iabi l i ties .

 

The objec�ve of market risk management is  to manage and control  market risk exposures  within acceptable

parameters  whi le optimis ing the return.

 

Interest rate risk

The Group does  not have any borrowings  and does  not pay interest.

 

The Group's  exposure to the risks  of changes  in market interest rates  relates  primari ly to the Group's  cash and cash

equivalents  with a  floa�ng interest rate. These financial  assets  with variable rates  expose the Group to interest rate

risk. Al l  other financial  assets  and l iabi l i ties  in the form of receivables  and payables  are non-interest bearing.

 

I n regard to i ts  interest rate risk, the Group periodical ly analyses  i ts  exposure. W ithin this  analys is  cons idera�on is

given to a l terna�ve investments  and the mix of fixed and variable interest rates . The Group does  not engage in any

hedging or derivative transactions  to manage interest rate risk.

 

The Group in the year to 31 March 2023 earned interest of £ni l  (2022: £ni l ).  Due to the Group's  rela�vely low level  of

interest-bearing assets  and the very low interest rates  avai lable in the market the Group is  not exposed to any

s igni ficant interest rate risk.

 

Credit risk



Credit risk

Credit risk refers  to the risk that a  counterparty could default on i ts  contractual  obl iga�ons resul�ng in financial

loss  to the Group. The Group's  principal  financial  assets  are cash balances  and other receivables .

 

The Group has  adopted a pol icy of only deal ing with what i t bel ieves  to be creditworthy counterpar�es  and would

consider obtaining sufficient col lateral  where appropriate, as  a  means of mi�ga�ng the risk of financial  loss  from

defaults . The Group's  exposure to and the credit ra�ngs  of i ts  counterpar�es  are con�nuously monitored. An

al lowance for impairment is  made where there is  objec�ve evidence that the Group wi l l  not be able to col lect a l l

amounts  due according to the original  terms of the receivables  concerned.

 

O ther receivables  cons ist primari ly of prepayments  and other sundry receivables  and none of the amounts  included

therein are past due or impaired.

 

Financial instruments by category - Group

 
  

Financial
assets at

amortised
cost

 Other financial
liabilities at

amortised cost

  

 

Total

31 March 2023       

Assets

Othe r re ce i va bl e s 11,175 - 11,175

Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts 544,988 - 544,988

 

Total

 

556,163

 

-

 

556,163

Liabilities

Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s - (800,007) (800,007)

 

Total

 

-

 

(800,007)

 

(800,007)

 

31 March 2022       

Assets

Othe r re ce i va bl e s 5,769 - 5,769

Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts 1,045,515 - 1,045,515

 

Total

 

1,051,284

 

-

 

1,051,284

Liabilities

Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s - (406,341) (406,341)

 

Total

 

-

 

(406,341)

 

(406,341)

 

Foreign exchange risk

Throughout the periods  presented in the consol idated financial  s tatements , the func�onal  currency for the Group's

West African subs idiaries  has  been the CFA Franc.

 

The Group incurs  certain explora�on costs  in the C FA Franc, US Dol lars , Austral ian Dol lars  and South African Rand

and has  exposure to foreign exchange rates  prevai l ing at the dates  when Sterl ing funds  are trans lated into other

currencies . The C FA Franc has  a  fixed exchange rate to the Euro and the Group therefore has  exposure to movements

in the Sterl ing : Euro exchange rate.  The Group has  not hedged against this  foreign exchange risk as  the Directors  do

not cons ider that the level  of exposure poses  a  s igni ficant risk.

 

The Group continues  to keep the matter under review as  further exploration and evaluation work is  performed in West

Africa and other countries  and wi l l  develop currency risk mi�ga�on procedures  i f the s ignificance of this  risk

materia l ly increases.

 



 

The Group's  consol idated financial  s tatements  have a low sens i�vity to changes  in exchange due to the low value of

assets  and l iabi l i�es  (principal ly cash balances) maintained in foreign currencies .  O nce any project moves  into the

development phase a greater propor�on of expenditure is  expected to be denominated in foreign currencies  which

may increase the foreign exchange risk.

 

Financial instruments by currency - Group
 

 GBP  USD  ZAR  AUD  XOF  Total

31 March 2023             

Assets            

Othe r re ce i va bl e s 11,175  -  -  -  -  11,175

Ca s h a nd ca s h
e qui va l e nts

 

425,704

  

-

  

-

 

 

 

-

  

119,284

  

544,988

 

Total

 

436,879

  

-

  

-

  

-

  

119,284

  

556,163

           

Liabilities            

Tra de  a nd othe r
pa ya bl e s

 

(122,278)

  

(446,098)

  

(98,621)

  

(65,094)

  

(67,916)

  

(800,007)

 

 GBP  USD  ZAR  AUD  XOF  Total

31 March 2022             

Assets  

Othe r re ce i va bl e s 5,769 - - - - 5,769

Ca s h a nd ca s h
e qui va l e nts

949,850 - - - 95,665 1,045,515

Total  

955,619

 

-

 

-

 

-

 

95,665

 

1,051,284

Liabilities

Tra de  a nd othe r
pa ya bl e s

(64,671) (304,145) - (36,289) (1,236) (406,341)

 

 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk i s  the risk that the enti ty wi l l  not be able to meet i ts  financial  obl igations  as  they fa l l  due.

 

The objec�ve of managing l iquidity risk i s  to ensure, as  far as  poss ible, that the Group wi l l  a lways  have sufficient

l iquidity to meet i ts  l iabi l i ties  when they fa l l  due, under both normal  and stressed conditions.

 

The Group has  establ ished pol icies  and processes  to manage l iquidity risk. These include:

•             Monitoring the maturi ty profiles  of financial  assets  and l iabi l i�es  in order to match inflows

and outflows;

•             Monitoring l iquidity ratios  (working capital ); and

•             Capital  management procedures, as  defined below.

 

Capital management

The Group's  objec�ve when managing capital  i s  to ensure that adequate funding and resources  are obtained to

enable i t to develop i ts  projects  through to profitable produc�on, whi lst in the mean�me safeguarding the Group's

abi l i ty to con�nue as  a  going concern. This  i s  to enable the Group, once projects  become commercial ly and

technical ly viable, to provide appropriate returns  for shareholders  and benefi ts  for other stakeholders .

 

The Group has  historical ly rel ied on equity to finance i ts  growth and explora�on ac�vity, ra ised through the issue of

shares. I n the future, the Board wi l l  u�l ise financing sources, be that debt or equity, that best suits  the Group's

working capital  requirements  and taking into account the prevai l ing market conditions.

 



 

Fair value

The fa ir value of the financial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i�es  of the Group, at each repor�ng date, approximates  to

their carrying amount as  disclosed in the Statement of Financial  Pos ition and in the related notes.

 

The fa ir values  of the financial  assets  and l iabi l i�es  are included at the amounts  at which the instrument could be

exchanged in a  current transaction between wi l l ing parties , other than in a  forced or l iquidation sale.

 

The cash and cash equivalents , other receivables , trade payables  and other current l iabi l i�es  approximate their

carrying value amounts  largely due to the short-term maturi ties  of these instruments .

 

D isclosure of financial  instruments  and financial  ri sk management for the Company has  not been performed as  they

are not s igni ficantly di fferent from the Group's  pos ition described above.

 

15.          RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 

The Directors  represent the key management personnel  of the Group and detai ls  of their remunera�on are provided in

note 3.

 

Robert Wooldridge, a  director, i s  a  member of S P  Angel  Corporate F inance LLP  ("S P  Angel") which acts  as  financial

adviser and broker to the Company. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company paid fees  to S P  Angel  of

£173,605 (2022: £30,000).  The increase compared to prior year reflects  S P  Angel 's  provis ion of broker services  in

rela�on to the £3 mi l l ion fundrais ing in May 2022.  The balance due to S P  Angel  at 31 March 2023 was £ni l  (2022: 

£ni l ).

 

Matlock Geological  Services  P ty Ltd ("Matlock") a  company whol ly owned by Bernard Aylward, a  director, provided

consultancy services  to the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023 and received fees  of £139,514 (2022:

£97,450).  These fees  are included within the remunera�on figure shown for Bernard Aylward in note 3.  The balance

due to Matlock at 31 March 2023 was £ni l  (2022:  £ni l ).

 

Geosmart Consul�ng P ty Ltd ("Geosmart"), a  company whol ly owned by Q ingtao Zeng, a  director, provided

consultancy services  to the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023 and received fees  of £24,627 (2022:

£27,136).  The balance due to Geosmart at 31 March 2023 was £ni l  (2022:  £14,528).

 

Zivvo P ty Ltd ("Zivvo"), a  company whol ly owned by Steven Zaninovich, a  Director, provided consultancy services  to

the Group.  Steven Zaninovich was appointed as  a  Director on 27 July 2022 and between that date and 31 March

2023, Zivvo received fees  of £140,000. These fees  are included within the remunera�on figure shown for Steven

Zaninovich in note 3.  The balance due to Zivvo at 31 March 2023 was £ni l .

 

16.          CONTROL

 

                No one party is  identi fied as  control l ing the Group.

 

17.          CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

 

                The Group had capital  commitments  to exploration and evaluation expenditure of £ni l  (2022: £ni l ).

 

18.          EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

 

O n 19 Apri l  2023, the Company announced the sale of the Bougouni  West project for a  total  cash cons idera�on for

Kodal  of £2.0 mi l l ion to Leo Li thium Ltd.  The Bougouni  West project comprised two concess ions, Mafélé O uest and

N'kemene O uest (the "Concess ions").  Kodal  entered into a  binding agreement with Leo Li thium Ltd to sel l  the Mafélé

O uest concess ion and agreed terms for the sale of the N'kemene O uest concess ion, condi�onal  on renewal  of the

l icence.  The Bougouni  West project was  held as  an asset for sale at the year end.

 

O n 3 August, the Company announced receipt of a  condi�onal  prepayment of US$3.5 mi l l ion as  part of the funding

package for the Bougouni  Li thium P roject between the Company and Hainan Mining Co. Limited and i ts  whol ly owned

UK-incorporated subs idiary X inmao I nvestment Co. Limited.  The prepayment is  repayable or, at the discre�on of

Hainan Mining Co. Limited, conver�ble into new ordinary shares  in the Company should the funding agreement not

proceed.



proceed.
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